
 

1 | P a g e  
 

Link to the archived recordings – organized in a playlist by meeting: 
https://www.youtube.com/@cityofgoshenindiana2605/playlists 

 

Agenda for the Goshen Common Council 
6:00 p.m., June 23, 2025 Regular Meeting 

Council Chamber, Police & Court Building, 111 East Jefferson Street, Goshen, IN 
For a live stream of the meeting, go to: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81652777559 

 
Call to Order by Mayor Gina Leichty 
 
Pledge of Allegiance led by Khaiden Qaiyim (Model Elementary School student) 
 
Roll Call:  
Linda Gerber (At-Large)  Phil Lederach (District 5)   Doug Nisley (District 2) 
Megan Peel (District 4) Donald Riegsecker (District 1) Matt Schrock (District 3) 
Council President Brett Weddell (At-Large) 
Youth Adviser Tageeya Galeb & Abril Reyes (Non-voting)  
 
Approval of Minutes: April 28, 2025 Regular Meeting  
 
Approval of Meeting Agenda 
 
Privilege of the Floor 
 
1)  Presentation of plaques to outgoing (2024-2025) Youth Advisers 
Tageeya Galeb, City Council; Peter Moser, Mayor’s Environmental Advisory Committee; 
Kimberly Cazabal Gonzalez, Board of Zoning Appeals; Brayden Wiese, Traffic 
Commission; Magdalena Bridger-Ulloa, Shade Tree Board; Katherine Orellana Pineda, 
Parks & Recreation Board; Adamaris Cortes, Board of Aviation Commissioners; and Savira 
Singh, GCS School Board 
 
2)  Introduction and Oaths of Office for incoming (2025-2026) Youth Advisers 
Abril Reyes, City Council; Anna Jaime Raymundo, Parks & Recreation Board, Brianna 
Garcia, Shade Tree Board; Ezra Tice, Board of Zoning Appeals; Kimberly Montalva, GCS 
School Board; Perla Cervantes, Traffic Commission; and Valerie Ortega Avila, Board of 
Aviation Commissioners. 
 
3)  City financial report and budget update (Clerk-Treasurer’s Office) 
 
4)  Resolution 2025-13 – Resolution of the Common Council of the City of Goshen approving 
Order of the Goshen Plan Commission 
 
Elected Official Reports 
 
Adjournment 

https://www.youtube.com/@cityofgoshenindiana2605/playlists


                                                                              

1 | P a g e  
April 28, 2025 | City Council Minutes 

GOSHEN COMMON COUNCIL 
Minutes of the April 28, 2025 Regular Meeting  

Convened in the Council Chamber, Police & Court Building, 111 East Jefferson Street, Goshen, Indiana 
 
At 6:01 p.m., assisted by Mayor Gina Leichty, Saúl Resendiz (a 4th-grader at Prairie View Elementary School) 
called the meeting to order and led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
Mayor Leichty asked Clerk-Treasurer Aguirre to conduct the roll call. 
Present: Linda Gerber (At-Large)  Phil Lederach (District 5)  Doug Nisley (District 2) 

Megan Peel (District 4),   Donald Riegsecker (District 1)  
 Matt Schrock (District 3) – Arrived 6:04 p.m. 

Council President Brett Weddell (At-Large) Youth Adviser Tageeya Galeb (non-voting) 
 
Approval of Minutes:  
Mayor Leichty asked the Council’s wishes regarding the minutes of the Dec. 30, 2024, Jan. 27 and Feb. 24, 2025 
Regular Meetings as prepared by Clerk-Treasurer Aguirre. Councilor Nisley moved to accept the minutes as 
presented. Councilor Peel seconded the motion. Motion passed 7-0 on a voice vote. 
 
Approval of Meeting Agenda: 
Mayor Leichty presented the agenda as prepared by the Clerk-Treasurer with the addition of new agenda item #3, 
AmeriCorps Service Interruption and Interim Staffing Measures. Councilor Peel moved to approve the agenda as 
amended. Councilor Lederach seconded the motion. Motion passed 7-0 on a voice vote. 
 
 
Privilege of the Floor: 
At 6:05 p.m., Mayor Leichty invited public comments for matters not on the agenda.  
 
River Norton of Goshen said his votes helped elect some Council members and he was worried that the heartfelt 
concerns expressed to Councilors often “fall on deaf ears.” He said, “The Goshen City Council seems not to care 
about the genocide against Palestinian people, nor seem able to connect the dots to how we are all connected – to 
see that our taxes fund bombs and other weapons of wonton destruction.” 
Norton demanded that Councilors “condemn apartheid Israel and the actions of the Israeli and military-in-occupation. 
I also demand that you condemn the actions of the Trump administration and their appalling displays of fascism. How 
do I know that my Goshen community, filled with so many beautiful people from all over the world, will be safe? How 
do I know that you are all doing everything you can to make sure undocumented people are safe … to make sure 
queer people are safe, to make sure indigenous people are safe, to make sure libraries are safe?” 
Norton said he believed ICE (Immigration and Customs Enforcement) officers should be arrested. He also 
advocated for Goshen to become a “Sanctuary City,” a safe placed for undocumented immigrants. Further, he asked 
if the Goshen Police Department had a quota system for arrests and issuing tickets. And he asked for the Common 
Council’s meeting calendar to be updated on the City’s website. 
 



                                                                              

2 | P a g e  
April 28, 2025 | City Council Minutes 

 
Norton concluded his comments by stating, “Just because you look away doesn't mean it's not happening. Injustice 
anywhere is a threat to justice everywhere. Your silence does not absolve you of accountability, and your silence is 
consent, and nurtures the death of generations. I know y'all's favorite line is that your hands are tied so what can you 
do? What can you do? Why is it so hard for y'all to support oppressed people? Why did I vote for any of you?” 
 
John Stoltzfus of Goshen discussed his privilege of living in Goshen alongside chickens, a dog named “Justice,” 
and some male birds which are not quiet. He said City officials have an awareness of loud train whistles and are 
acting to limit noise. He said some of the loud birds have been relocated to a friend’s house out of town and his 
neighbors are now happier. 
Stoltzfus said all this prompted him to wonder “What it takes for Goshen as a City to become louder relative to basic 
human rights, and part of what I notice is a deep privilege to communicate with neighbors in Gaza, and then the West 
Bank and in Israel, and to hear people in town speak who live in Palestine. Given those conversations and those 
privileges, and given campaigns like ‘Not Another Child, Not Another Hospital,’ I see that there are excellent 
opportunities to engage both as individuals and as a City, whether that's a call for one campaign or more or whether 
that's direct action on the part of individual citizens.” 
Stoltfzfus concluded, “Thank you to all those of you in this City who do look out for the neighbors near me when I 
run amok of roosters that don't need to live in town and a dog who maybe doesn’t need to be heard as much as he 
would reflexively like to talk about whatever he notices. Thank you for bearing with me.” 
 
At 6:11p.m., Mayor Leichty closed the public comment period. 
 
1)  Presentation: Honoring recent retirees with more than 30 years of service to the City  
Mayor Leichty honored six individuals who recently retired after giving more than 25 years of service to the City of 
Goshen by awarding them with keys to the City. Before doing so, the Mayor reflected on the tradition of presenting 
such keys, which she said symbolized trust, honor, and gratitude. 
Mayor Leichty said awarding a key to the City “represents the City's highest expression of appreciation for 
individuals who have made an extraordinary contribution to the community’s life and well-being.” She said these 
individuals “have spent decades strengthening Goshen, keeping it safe, healthy, connected, and thriving and their 
leadership, sacrifice and unwavering commitment have touched countless residents’ lives and helped shape the 
City's very character.” She added that the six “will always be a part of Goshen's story and a part of Goshen’s heart.” 
Mayor Leichty recognized the following individuals for their public service: 
Officer Keith Miller began his full-time career with the Goshen Police Department on Feb. 17, 1989. Over the 
course of 36 years, he served the community with distinction in roles including evidence technician, department 
instructor and Division Chief of Investigations. He was honored for his leadership across multiple ranks within the 
patrol division “which exemplifies a life dedicated to the profession of law enforcement.” Officer Miller was presented 
a City key and the audience responded with applause. 
Officer Michael Johnson (and K-9 Officer “Jetta”) joined the Goshen Police Department on July 3, 1987, bringing 
with him experience from the Elkhart City Police Department and service in the U.S. Marine Corps. Over his nearly 
38 years in Goshen, he served in the Patrol Division, held supervisory roles, and contributed significantly as both a 
School Resource Officer and K-9 handler. 



                                                                              

3 | P a g e  
April 28, 2025 | City Council Minutes 

 
The Mayor said Johnson’s commitment to the safety of our community has left an enduring impact on Goshen. 
Officer Johnson was unable to be present because he was being treated at Goshen Hospital. 
EMS Captain Kit Castetter has been a member of the Goshen Fire Department since 1990, providing over 30 years 
of service. The Mayor said Castetter’s “leadership in emergency medical services, coupled with his calm 
professionalism, earned the deep respect of both colleagues and community members.” The Mayor said his legacy 
will continue to influence the department long after his retirement. Captain Castetter was presented with a City key 
and the audience responded with applause. 
Lieutenant Jeff Wogoman retired from the Goshen Fire Department on Feb. 15, 2025, after more than 28 years of 
service. He served not only as a firefighter and officer but also as a mentor to many within the department. In addition 
to his work in Goshen, he has served with the Middlebury Fire Department since 1990, including time as Fire Chief. 
He will continue in that leadership role following his retirement from GFD. The Mayor said Wogoman’s contributions 
to public safety in both communities were deeply appreciated. Lieutenant Wogoman was presented with a City key 
and the audience responded with applause. 
Firefighter Corey Wortinger has dedicated over 35 years to public service in Goshen, including more than 20 years 
with the Goshen Fire Department. He began his career in the Street Department before joining GFD in 2004, where 
he served as both firefighter and Engineer. Corey was instrumental in training many of the department’s Engineers, 
helping ensure safe and effective apparatus operation. The Mayor said Wortinger’s “pursuit of continued education 
and commitment to mentorship have left a lasting mark on the department’s readiness and professionalism.” 
Wortinger was presented with a City key and the audience responded with applause. 
Goshen Board of Aviation Commissioner Denny Richmond was appointed by Mayor Mike Puro in January 1995. 
Richmond served the City of Goshen on the Board of Aviation Commissioners for 30 years, including the last two 
decades as Board President. The Mayor said Richmond was a longtime advocate for aviation and community service 
and played a pivotal role in securing federal grants, completing critical property acquisitions, extending the runway, 
and overseeing terminal and hangar construction. He also helped lead the Goshen Air Show to national prominence. 
The Mayor said Richmond’s “steady leadership and countless volunteer hours have left an enduring legacy at 
Goshen Municipal Airport.” Richmond could not be present at the meeting. 
 
2)  Presentation: Recognition of City of Goshen colleagues who were recent Good of Goshen honorees and 
two City employees who received statewide awards for outstanding contributions  
Mayor Leichty said that in March she delivered two “State of the City” speeches – one for the public and one for City 
of Goshen employees. After the second speech, she also honored 10 colleagues “whose integrity, service, and 
commitment to the community reflect the very best of Goshen.” She said those honored were nominated by their 
peers to receive the “Good of Goshen” award for going above and beyond every day, supporting their teams, building 
a positive work environment and strengthening the service the City delivers to the public. Those honored were: 
Nick Battles, Water & Sewer Crew Leader. Known for his reliability and leadership, Nick was described by 
teammates simply and powerfully: “Nick never says no, which is nice.” A Goshen native and Purdue graduate, he 
leads by example—keeping water systems running and mentoring his crew with “quiet determination.” 
Amanda Guzman, Communications Manager. Amanda has redefined how the City connects with the public. As 
one colleague noted, “She is the reason the City of Goshen’s voice is strong and clear.” Her work ensures 
communication “is calm, transparent, and trustworthy—especially in moments that matter most.” 



                                                                              

4 | P a g e  
April 28, 2025 | City Council Minutes 

 
Megan Hessl, Park Board President, Redevelopment Commission member and Shanklin Pool Steering Committee 
member. Megan is known for her ability to bring people together. One nominator wrote: “Megan is passionate about 
fostering collaboration, putting aside differences, and working toward the greater good.” Her leadership has touched 
neighborhoods, public spaces, and long-term planning. 
Rita Huffman, Human Resources Manager. Rita’s compassion and professionalism make her a trusted resource 
across departments. One department head said, “Having Rita to consult ensures that I can make my staff feel safe, 
respected, and appreciated.” 
Chief José Miller, Goshen Police Department. Chief Miller is a “consistent, forward-thinking presence.” One 
colleague put it simply: “I don’t think I ever can’t reach him.” His work implementing reforms and strengthening 
accountability has made Goshen safer and more transparent. 
Bodie Stegelmann, City Attorney. Behind every sound policy is Bodie’s thoughtful guidance. “Bodie’s behind-the-
scenes efforts reinforce public trust in city government,” said one nominator.  
Captain Patrick Linn, Goshen Fire Department. Pat’s impact stretches beyond emergency response. His 
colleagues described him as “the embodiment of integrity, courage, and service,” noting the ways he supports 
others—whether mentoring firefighters or comforting families in crisis. 
Charlie Riggs, Maintenance Manager, Wastewater. Even while facing health challenges, Charlie has kept the 
City’s treatment plant and 41 lift stations running—and taken on additional work at the Goshen Recycling Center. 
One leader said, “He may be frustrated, but he never gives less than 100%.” 
Dustin Sailor, Director of Public Works & Utilities. Dustin’s decisions are always future-focused. “He gives 100% 
every single day,” one nominator said, while another added, “When Dustin makes decisions, he looks at how they will 
impact the city for years to come.” 
Jeffrey Weaver, Deputy Clerk-Treasurer. Jeffrey is known for strengthening the team around him. “He is a great 
team player and a great steward of the City’s needs,” said a colleague. Whether fixing issues, explaining problems 
clearly, or improving workflows, he always makes things better. 
Patty Morgan, Volunteer, Board of Aviation Commissioner. For years, Patty has quietly served 5–7 hours a week 
to help Goshen Municipal Airport run smoothly – never asking for compensation or credit. As she prepares to retire 
from the board, we want to be sure she hears what one colleague captured so well: “Your work has made a lasting 
impact, and we see you. We honor you. Thank you.” 
Mayor Leichty said that those employees were honored in March, but four could not be present. So, she asked the 
following people to come forward to be receive their awards at the Council meeting. She then honored: 
Mattie Lehman, GIS Coordinator. Mattie has made geographic information an essential part of how the City works. 
Her leadership helps departments respond faster, plan smarter, and coordinate more effectively. One colleague 
summed it up: “She makes our work smarter, faster, and more effective.” 
Christine Guth, Urban Forestry Volunteer. For six years, Christine has shown up for Goshen’s trees – personally 
tending to hundreds of new plantings and leading invasive plant removal. A colleague wrote, “Her commitment has 
left a lasting impact on the landscape of Goshen, quite literally.” She also empowers others to become stewards of 
the environment. 
Don Shuler, Assistant City Attorney. Don has helped the City act more decisively on blight and compliance. “He 
has opened doors, ideas, and possibilities,” wrote a nominator, “and helped the Building Department pursue real 
solutions for struggling neighborhoods.” His extra time and effort are changing the way we support our communities. 



                                                                              

5 | P a g e  
April 28, 2025 | City Council Minutes 

 
Mayor Leichty also asked Councilors to join her in honoring these four individuals. She added, “each one reminds 
us that the strength of local government lies not just in systems or policies, but in the people who choose, every day, 
to make Goshen better.” 
Mayor Leichty thanked the three and gave them awards and the audience responded with applause. 
Mayor Leichty also honored two other City employees, Kelly Saenz and Theresa Sailor, who have recently 
received statewide recognition “for their outstanding contributions to public service and environmental resilience.” 
About the honorees and their awards: 
Kelly Saenz received the Bonna Burns Award for Utility Leadership. Saenz, manager of Goshen Utilities’ 
Business Office, received the award from the Indiana Section of the American Water Works Association. The award 
recognizes professionals who demonstrate the highest standards in utility recordkeeping, financial accountability, and 
customer service. 
Since 2017, Saenz has guided the business office through evolving demands – from managing Goshen’s lead 
service line inventory to maintaining in-person operations during COVID-19. She led the migration to new billing and 
accounting software, helping staff and customers adapt while ensuring financial accuracy. Her leadership also drives 
proactive programs, such as early water leak detection that protect property and preserve water resources. Her 
service reflects the best of what local government can offer. 
Saenz was recognized during the Indiana Section AWWA’s 117th Annual Conference, which took place April 21–24, 
2025, at the Marriott Downtown in Indianapolis. 
Theresa Sailor received the 2025 Hoosier Resilience Hero Award from Indiana University’s Environmental 
Resilience Institute, one of only 12 honorees statewide. The award, which was announced in March, celebrates 
individuals advancing climate resilience, sustainability, and environmental equity in Indiana communities. 
Sailor’s decades-long advocacy has helped shape Goshen’s environmental vision. Her work has elevated issues of 
clean energy, neighborhood health, and social equity—bringing underserved voices to the table and helping align 
policy with public need. Her leadership has made Goshen stronger and more inclusive. 
 
3)  AmeriCorps Service Interruption and Interim Staffing Measures 
Mayor Leichty said she wanted to brief Councilors about the sudden termination of federal support last 
Friday for five AmeriCorps members and action taken over the weekend to ensure their continued service to 
the City of Goshen. 
Before the meeting, Mayor Leichty emailed to Councilors a two-page memorandum, dated April 28, 2025 and titled 
AmeriCorps Service Interruption and Interim Staffing Measures. In the memo, she described the abrupt cessation of 
federal funding for the City’s AmeriCorps members and the City’s response. She also included Appendix A: 2024-
2025 AmeriCorps Project Summary, a three-page document of the work of the members (EXHIBIT #1) 
The Mayor said the following: at the meeting: 
“At 10:48 pm. on Friday (April 25), I received a notice that our federal funding for AmeriCorps service members had 
been cut, meaning that five full-time people that are working in the Parks Department, Environmental Resilience and 
the Engineering Department were laid off without notice at 10:48 p.m. and told to not come back to work. 
“These individuals had committed to a full year of service. Their term started in August of 2024, and they had one 
year projects that were supposed to conclude in August of 2025. 
 



                                                                              

6 | P a g e  
April 28, 2025 | City Council Minutes 

 
“They promised to work for a full year for a modest salary of $29,000, and the promise of an $8,000 education 
scholarship upon completing their term, and that promise that promise was broken. 
“Over the weekend I met with our department advisors, Dustin Sailor, Theresa Sailor, Aaron Sawatsky Kingsley, 
Tanya Heyde, Jeffrey Weaver and Michael Wanbaugh, to develop an immediate and responsible plan to keep these 
important projects on track and to do right by these young professionals.” 
Mayor Leichty continued: 
“Our team worked quickly and collaboratively to ensure three things: 1, Fiscal responsibility to use existing grant 
funds that we could transition to pay for the continuation of these projects without creating a new budget strain; 2,  
Responsible project management, so critical City initiatives could continue, and we would not waste all of the effort 
that our department heads, and these individuals, have put into those projects over the past eight months; and 3, 
Respect for the individuals who had committed themselves to serving our community over the past year. 
“By reallocating our Urban Forestry Grant funds, we were able to extend part-time temporary employment offers to 
our AmeriCorps members so they can continue their work through August 2025, and they will be able to resume their 
work tomorrow. 
“Now we have been able to address the employment gap, but the federal government’s decision eliminated 
approximately $17,500 in education awards. That's about $3,500 per person that these individuals were counting on 
for their future. In the weeks ahead, I will look at philanthropic support to help close that gap and, if necessary, I 
might come back to the Council with a proposal for consideration to help close that gap. 
“But tonight is not about that action. I want to share a full story with you just about these students and their 
remarkable response. 
“Less than 12 hours after learning that they had been summarily fired and told not to come back to work, the Goshen 
AmeriCorps team showed up, unpaid, to help distribute more than 600 trees at the City's tree giveaway at Shanklin 
Park. They'd been told their service ended. They had been instructed to not report to their assignments, but they 
came anyway because they gave us their word and because they believe in the work. and because they believe in 
Goshen. 
“Whether or not the Federal Government kept its word to them, they kept their word to us. So, when you ask about 
future generations and what the outlook looks like for our community and for the City of Goshen, I say there's none 
better than the team of AmeriCorps professionals that we are privileged to welcome through our AmeriCorps 
program, which we will now call Goshen Corps. 
“They deserve more than our thanks. They deserve the opportunity to finish what they started. So, at this time I would 
like to ask our five former AmeriCorps, now Goshen Corps, members to please stand: Lucy Kramer, Benji Wall, 
Jordan Gibbs, Ollie Freshour, and Lee Strader-Bergy. Can you please join me in thanking them? 
“Thank you for your integrity, your service, and your powerful example to all of us. We look forward to continuing to 
support you and bringing your important projects to a close ... And we thank the next generation for building the 
Goshen we want to see today and tomorrow.” 
 
 
4)  City budget reports from March 2025 (Clerk-Treasurer’s Office) 
Deputy Clerk-Treasurer Jeffery Weaver delivered a financial and budget update from March 2025 to Councilors.  
 



                                                                              

7 | P a g e  
April 28, 2025 | City Council Minutes 

 
BACKGROUND: 
In an April 28, 2025 memorandum to the Common Council, Deputy Clerk-Treasurer Jeffery Weaver wrote that he 
was attaching financial reports summarizing the budget and cash balance performance for Civil City funds included in 
the 2025 budget, which was approved by the Council in October 2024. These reports were intended to provide a 
reasonable understanding of the City’s financial position. They are unaudited and may require some interpretation. 
Fund Balance Report 
Weaver wrote that this report showed the cash balance of each fund and was intended to demonstrate that each 
fund maintains a sufficient balance to support budgeted expenditures. 

• In the month of March, the City’s budgeted cash balances decreased about $2.7 million. In the first few 
months of the year, the cash balances decrease because most of the City’s revenues are receipted in June 
and December. 

• The Debt Service fund currently showed a negative balance due to bond payments made in January and 
February, prior to receiving levy revenue in June. 

• The Old Law Enforcement Continuing Education fund (#2504) was now empty. The balance was transferred 
to the Law Enforcement Continuing Education fund (#2228) to help simplify the City’s funds. 

• The TIF Debt Service Reserve was now empty since the balance was applied toward the final payment on 
the 2015 Refunding Revenue Bonds. 

Budget Report 
Weaver wrote that this report outlined the budget performance for each fund and the departments within the General 
Fund. Revenues were detailed on the first two pages, while expenditures were then reported. 

• If expenditures were distributed evenly throughout the year, we would expect 25% of the budget to be spent 
by the end of March, with 75% remaining. 

• 30% of the Public Safety LIT budget was spent, largely due to equipment purchases made earlier in the 
year and an increased pension contribution required for 2025 compared to 2024. 

Weaver wrote that he was available to answer questions about the report. 
 
SUMMARY OF APRIL 28, 2025 COUNCIL DISCUSSION OF CITY FINANCIAL REPORT: 
Mayor Leichty invited a presentation from Deputy Clerk-Treasurer Jeffery Weaver. 
Weaver said this report, like the previous ones, showed that “things are on track, as we had anticipated, and as we 
had budgeted for. My comments on the front mostly refer to some cleanups that we've been getting into the report. 
Also, there are some transfers that we need to make each year from one fund to another, just to make sure that 
those are consistent.” 
Weaver provided a summary of highlights from the report and said he had condensed the report because it had more 
lines than were necessary and was difficult to read. He explained, “When you get to the General Fund, there are 
multiple departments in the General Fund. I could just put that on its own page, and everything else would be 
condensed into one or two pages.” 
Weaver invited questions from Councilors. 
 
Councilor Peel thanked Weaver for his report. In response to a series of questions from Councilor Riegsecker, 
Weaver clarified reported revenue and encumbrances in the report. 



                                                                              

8 | P a g e  
April 28, 2025 | City Council Minutes 

 
In response to this discussion, Mayor Leichty said, “I think Councilor Riegsecker makes an important point that's 
important for the other Councilors and the public to understand that there are two types of budgets. There's a funded 
budget and a balanced budget, and a balanced budget would be your revenues and your expenses equal each other 
in a given year.” 
The Mayor continued, “A funded budget means that you have an adequate amount of resources to pay that. So, it 
may appear that there are fewer revenues, but you have a cash resource to pay for that. So, last year the Council 
agreed to pass a funded budget. Due to COVID and the City's inability to move forward with a number of 
infrastructure projects, the City accumulated a large amount of cash reserves that were dedicated for infrastructure 
improvement. 
“So, it's not like we could spend those cash balances on anything that we want. They were specifically approved for 
and have been carried forward for specific infrastructure projects. So, our budget has increased this year to reflect 
catching up to what is still delayed in infrastructure spending that we were not able to do in the years right after 
COVID.” 
Mayor Leichty concluded, “It may appear that we have a deficit in our budget, but it is actually a funded budget. We 
intentionally are spending down cash reserves that we had accumulated during COVID to pay for those expenditures. 
It is by design that that the expenditures are more than the revenues. “ 
In response to another question from Councilor Riegsecker, Weaver said the City expects to collect about $63 
million in revenue.  
Councilor Lederach said, “I think the point that the Mayor makes is important. There was a lot of talk from this last 
legislative session of how the cities in Indiana have such a large cash surplus, but that cash surplus was already 
encumbered to be spent on projects that were already approved. So, it's not like we're flush with money that we can 
spend in any way we want.” 
Weaver said a good example of that were the $6.7 million in funds the City received from the American Rescue Plan 
grant in 2022. He said that about $5.5 million remains, but it has already been committed to be spent on 
infrastructure projects that take time to complete. 
At 6:48 p.m. Mayor Leichty invited questions on the report from the audience. There were none.  
Mayor Leichty invited a motion to approve the financial and budget report. 
Councilors Weddell and Peel made a motion to approve the Clerk-Treasurer Office’s budget report from 
March 2025.  
On a voice vote, Councilors voted unanimously, by a 7-0 margin, to approve the financial and budget report 
at 6:49 p.m. 
 
 
5)  Public hearing and consideration of Resolution 2025-09, SRF Loan Program Preliminary Engineering 
Report Acceptance, and Resolution 2025-10, SRF Loan Program Signatory Authorization Resolution 
Mayor Leichty called for the introduction of Resolution 2025-09, SRF Loan Program Preliminary Engineering 
Report Acceptance. Council President Weddell asked the Clerk-Treasurer to read Resolution 2025-09 by title 
only, which was done. 
Weddell/Lederach made a motion to approve Resolution 2025-09. 
 



                                                                              

9 | P a g e  
April 28, 2025 | City Council Minutes 

 
BACKGROUND: 
In a memorandum, dated April 28, 2025, that was provided to the Council before the meeting, Utilities City 
Engineer Jamey Bontrager-Singer provided an overview of the Drinking Water System Upgrade and 
Expansion. He said the following sites, which he described as the “backbone” of the City’s drinking water system, 
would be impacted by the proposed project: the Hilltop Booster Station, the North Wellfield, the Kercher 
Wellfield and the New South Wellfield.  
Bontrager-Singer provided an eight-page Preliminary Engineering Report for the project. It provided a work 
description, with needs, and alternatives is identified for each location. The following is a summary of the report: 
A. North Wellfield and Water Treatment Plant (WTP) Site 
1. Evaluate condition of existing wells and options available (a. Needs, i, ii, iii, iv and b. Alternatives, I, ii, iii) 
2. Evaluate WTP disinfection system (a. Needs, i and b. Alternatives, I, ii, iii) 
3. Evaluate condition and replacement of aerators located over the clear well (a. Needs, i and b. Alternatives, I, ii, iii) 
4. Evaluate condition of clear well and location in a floodplain (a. Needs, I, ii, iii and b. Alternatives, I, ii, iii, iv)  
5. Evaluate condition of pressure filters (a. Needs, i and b. Alternatives, I, ii) 
6. Evaluate structural condition of the original 1935 building (a. Needs, i and b. Alternatives, I, ii, iii) 
B. Kercher Wellfield and WTP Site 
1. Evaluate the present well situation and pressure filter status to confirm the City’s proposal to ultimately abandon 
this well field and WTP (a. Needs, I, ii, iii , iv, v, vi, vii and b. Alternatives, I, ii, iii) 
C. Hilltop Booster Station 
1. Due to high groundwater in area of underground tank, the full 500,000-gallon volume of tank is not effectively 
available for storage due to possible tank buoyancy when it emptied (a. Needs, i and b. Alternatives, I, ii) 
2. The two existing booster pumps can currently meet a residential fire demand but will likely have inadequate 
capacity for more commercial development in the high pressure zone (northeast Goshen region) and a new four-
story senior living facility that will open in the near future (a. Needs, I, ii and b. Alternatives, I, ii, iii) 
D. New South Wellfield and WTP Site  
1. Construct a new wellfield and WTP on 79 acres of property the City owns just north of the Goshen Airport (a. 
Needs, I, ii and b. Alternatives, I, ii, iii) 
Estimated Cost of the project: 
The estimated total project cost to design and construct the Proposed Project, as detailed in Chapter 4 of the PER, is 
approximately $68,000,000. 
Estimated Project Schedule: 
Submittal of DWSRF Application and PER (completed)   March 28, 2025 
Publication of Notice for Public Hearing     April 18, 2025 
Public Hearing        April 28, 2025 
Submittal of PER Required Chapter 6 Materials to IFA   May 6, 2025 
Publication of Project Priority List (approximately)    July 1, 2025 
Initiate Design of DW Improvements     August 2025 
Complete Design and Submit Const. Permit App to IDEM   June 2026 
IDEM Approval of Const. Permit Application     August 2026 
Bid Opening        August 2026 



                                                                              

10 | P a g e  
April 28, 2025 | City Council Minutes 

 
SRF Loan Closing       October 2026 
Issue Notice to Proceed for Construction     October 2026 
Construction Substantial Completion     October 2028 
Construction Final Completion      December 2028 
Submit Record Drawings for Project to IFA     December 2028 
 
Resolution 2025-09, which was before the Council for approval, would authorize acceptance of the SRF Loan 
Program Preliminary Engineering Report. According to Resolution 2025-09: 

• The City of Goshen, Indiana, Water Utility has caused a Preliminary Engineering Report (“PER”), dated 
March 28, 2025 to be prepared by the consulting firm of Donohue & Associates, Inc; and 

• Said report has been presented to the public at a hearing held April 28, 2025, for their comments; and 
• The City of Goshen, Indiana, Common Council finds that there was not sufficient evidence presented in 

objection to the recommended project in the Preliminary Engineering Report. 
If approved by the Common Council, it would be resolved that: 
1. The “Water System Upgrade and Expansion,” Preliminary Engineering Report, dated March 28, 2025, be 
approved and adopted by the Common Council; and 
2. That said PER be submitted to the State Revolving Fund Loan Program for review and approval. 
 
SUMMARY OF APRIL 28, 2025 COUNCIL CONSIDERATION & APPROVAL OF RESOLUTION 2025-09: 
At 6:50 p.m., Mayor opened public hearing on Resolution 2025-09. There were no comments. 
 
Mayor Leichty invited a presentation on Resolution 2025-09 
Utilities City Engineer Jamey Bontrager-Singer provided an overview of the Preliminary Engineering Report 
(PER) for the City’s Drinking Water System Upgrade and Expansion. He did so using a 22-page PowerPoint 
presentation on the proposed project which includes the Hilltop Booster Station, the North Wellfield, the Kercher 
Wellfield and the New South Wellfield (EXHIBIT #2). The PowerPoint was developed from his report to the Council. 
Bontrager-Singer said the Hilltop Booster Station, the North Wellfield Treatment Plant, the Kercher Wellfield 
Treatment Plant and the New South Wellfield are the “backbone” of the City’s water system. He said he would 
discuss work at all four facilities, including needs and alternatives, following by preliminary engineering 
recommendations prepared with the City’s consultant, Donohue & Associates, Inc. of South Bend. 
Highlights of Bontrager-Singer’s presentation, including answers to Councilor questions: 
Hilltop Booster Station: 

• Because of high groundwater, the City cannot use the tank’s full volume (500,0000 gallons) by emptying it. 
• So, the City needs to reduce the high groundwater with a new drainage system around the tank and by 

running a pump to drain it off into a lake in North Goshen. 
• In addition, booster pumps have inadequate capacity and cannot meet commercial fire service demands. 
• The preferred alternative solution is to build a new booster pump station building with larger and more 

accessible and larger vertical turbine pumps. 
• Residents would not lose their water during construction. 

 



                                                                              

11 | P a g e  
April 28, 2025 | City Council Minutes 

 
North Wellfield Treatment Plant: 

• The plant has a number of serious issues that eventually may force it to be closed. 
• Its largest well cannot be re-screened. 
• There is limited space for new wells. 
• The plant is located within the Rock Run Creek Floodway. 
• The well is a superfund site and there is trace VOC (Volatile Organic Compound) contamination. 
• The old water treatment disinfection system poses the risk of an accidental release of deadly chlorine gas 

into the Chamberlain neighborhood and the Boys and Girls Club. 
• The aerators are 60 years old and have exceeded their design life. 
• The clear well is 60 years old and the concrete is deteriorating. 
• The pressure filters also are 60 years old and have exceeded their design life. 
• The 1935-constructed building needs repair or replacement. 
• Although there are ways to address and alleviate all these issues, many would be too costly and the best 

option may be gradually decommissioning the wellfield. 
Kercher Water Treatment Plant: 

• Well No. 12 is pumping sandy water, cannot be re-screened and there’s no space for a new well 
• Well No. 14, which has the largest capacity in the system, is on Greencroft Retirement Community’s 

property and must be cleaned of iron bacteria that is fouling the water every 2-3 years. 
• There is a trichloroethylene (TCE) plume in the industrial park to the west and it is moving northeast. 
• Three pressure filters located outdoors and must be operated in winter to keep from freezing. 
• The Primary Flow Meter is not working. 
• The generator is from the 1970s, was bought used and the City cannot easily find repair parts. 
• Also, the disinfectant system uses chlorine gas, which poses a risk to the adjacent Greencroft Retirement 

Community. 
• Alternatives to address the problems include adding containment and/or a scrubber system for chlorine gas 

to protect employees and neighbors or add a well to the east and replace aging equipment. 
New South Water Treatment Plant: 

• This wellfield by the Goshen Airport will be home to a new water treatment plant and is the “bright spot” in 
the City’s water system. 

• The City needs to develop a wellfield without any contamination which can be a wellhead protection area. 
• The wellfield needs to enable the City to meet its demand for water amid the loss of the current capacity. 
• The City needs to resolve contamination and other issues so the North or Kercher wellfields can help meet 

the total water demand of 13 million gallons per day. 
• The City needs to install wells and a new water treatment plant with 6.4 million gallons per day capacity now 

and 10.4 million gallons per day in the future because eventually the North plant will be decommissioned 
and the Kercher plant will be the other wellfield. 

• No action would result in an inadequate water supply for the City. 
• The City has drilled nine wells on the South Wellfield and six eventually will be used for water production. 

 



                                                                              

12 | P a g e  
April 28, 2025 | City Council Minutes 

 
Utilities City Engineer Bontrager-Singer briefly discussed the schedule for making the water system 
improvements. He said a key step was today’s public hearing. He said the City hopes to learn soon the possible loan 
amount from the State Revolving Fund, followed a design proposal and design work followed by construction. 
Summarizing the presentation, Mayor Leichty said, “So, just to clarify and add on to what you're presenting here 
today, we understand that the well systems that we have now are facing the end of life. We know we need additional 
alternatives. We're exploring those new alternatives. 
“We have a number of considerations that you've presented. It's a lot of information. We are going to revisit this 
conversation with the Council at our next work session, so you will have an opportunity to digest and ask additional 
questions.” 
The Mayor continued, “In addition to that, I know that on the financing side and strategic planning of side, Jamey 
(Utilities City Engineer Bontrager-Singer) and Dustin (Director of Public Works & Utilities Sailor) have a series 
of meetings coming up with Baker Tilly (Municipal Advisors)  to evaluate feasibility and costs and options for the City 
as we figure out what is the best path forward. So, there are still a number of opportunities that it will come back to 
the Council for additional consideration about next steps and a timeline.” 
Mayor Leichty said City staff thought it would be helpful to have a few Councilors who would be able to attend 
the Baker Tilly meetings to act as Council liaisons. She asked if any Councilors would be willing to volunteer. 
Councilors Peel, Lederach and Nisley volunteered to participate in the evaluation process. 
Councilor Nisley asked if the City had an emergency plan if the North Wellfield was unavailable. Sailor said, “The 
City has never had a 100% emergency plan when they put in the Kercher Wellfield back in the 1990s that added 
additional capacity. So, each wellfield, let's say it's 100% operational, each wellfield is able to do 5 million gallons a 
day with 10 million gallons capacity. As we start losing wells or components, we start drawing back on that. 
“So, right now we're about 9 million gallons a day in the summertime right now. 2012 is our worst scenario. We were 
8 million gallons demand on high demand days. Normally, in the summertime, we're about 5 million gallons, so we 
still have reserve capacity in the system.” 
Sailor continued, “As long as both plants are operational, we have part of our operational plan is we do all our 
maintenance in the winter, so we have them evaluated in October, and they test all our pumps. We rebuild them 
during the winter, so before May comes every year all our system has been ran through, pumps have been rebuilt, so 
we're ready for a full summer again. 
“Worst case scenario, if we had a fire or something at one of the facilities, and it took it out, we would be on 
restrictions. But again, we were able to operate in the wintertime, generally with one plant. In the summertime, we 
would be on a ‘no irrigation’ scenario. We have enough for domestic use, but losing a plant, we would not have 
enough water for irrigation.” 
Sailor added, “We have a separate backfill program throughout the City. So, we do not have an issue with that as 
long as we keep our pressure above 20. PSI, we're stable.” 
Councilor Gerber asked about the City’s projections for population growth, particularly with the Cheery Creek 
housing development, which is under construction. She asked how much more water the City will need. 
Bontrager-Singer said there has been some analysis based on a 20-year population projection. He added that the 
cost estimates for the improvements that are being recommended was $68 million. He said the new South Wellfield 
Treatment plant is estimated to cost $35 million. 
Mayor Leichty clarified the votes before the Council tonight concern the City’s application to a state loan program. 



                                                                              

13 | P a g e  
April 28, 2025 | City Council Minutes 

 
Bontrager-Singer said the City will be submitting a low-interest loan application. So will 50 or 60 different projects 
from other cities and that 10 or 15 projects will receive loans. The Mayor said it was a highly competitive process. 
Bontrager-Singer said the City will be able to use $450,000 remaining from a previous project for design of these 
improvements. He said the City will need a proposal from Donahue & Associates for the engineering and then City 
staff and Councilors will meet with Baker Tilley to figure out how to fund that engineering work as well as discuss the 
impact on water rates and other impacts of the projects. 
Bontrager-Singer said the Council will hold a work session on the water system improvements on June 13 and 
Baker Tilly will conduct a rate study later this year. 
 
There were no additional questions or comments from Councilors, so Mayor Leichty invited audience 
questions at 7:31 p.m. There were none. 
Mayor Leichty asked if Councilors were ready to vote. They indicated that they were. 
On a voice vote, Councilors then unanimously passed Resolution 2025-09, SRF Loan Program Preliminary 
Engineering Report Acceptance, by a 7-0 margin, with all Councilors voting “yes,” at 7:32 p.m.  
 
Resolution 2025-10, SRF Loan Program Signatory Authorization Resolution 
Mayor Leichty called for the introduction of Resolution 2025-10, SRF Loan Program Signatory Authorization 
Resolution. Council President Weddell asked the Clerk-Treasurer to read Resolution 2025-10 by title only, 
which was done. 
Weddell/Nisley made a motion to approve Resolution 2025-10. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
Resolution 2025-10 would authorize and initiate an application for a State Revolving Fund Loan for the City 
of Goshen. According to Resolution 2025-10: 
The City of Goshen, Indiana, Water Utility (“City”) has plans for a Drinking Water infrastructure improvement project 
which will meet anticipated increases in demand for Domestic Water while also complying with State and Federal 
regulations and the City intends to proceed with the construction of such project: 
If Resolution 2025-10 was approved, the Common Council would resolve that: 
1. Mayor Gina M. Leichty would be authorized to make application for a State Revolving Fund Loan (“SRF Loan”) 
and provide the SRF Loan Program such information, data and documents pertaining to the loan process as may be 
required, and otherwise act as the authorized representative of the City; and 
2. The City would agree to comply with State and Federal requirements as they pertain to the SRF Loan Program;  
3. Two certified copies of this Resolution would be prepared and submitted as part of the City’s Preliminary 
Engineering Report. 
 
SUMMARY OF APRIL 28, 2025 COUNCIL CONSIDERATION & APPROVAL OF RESOLUTION 2025-10: 
Mayor Leichty invited questions or comments from Councilors. There were none 
At 7:32 p.m., The Mayor invited comments from the audience. There were none. 
On a voice vote, Councilors unanimously passed Resolution 2025-10, SRF Loan Program Signatory 
Authorization Resolution, by a 7-0 margin, with all Councilors voting “yes,” at 7:32 p.m.  



                                                                              

14 | P a g e  
April 28, 2025 | City Council Minutes 

 
6)  Resolution 2025-07, A Resolution of the Common Council of the City of Goshen, Indiana, Authorizing the 
Filing of an Application for a Community Development Block Grant 
Mayor Leichty called for the introduction of Resolution 2025-07, A Resolution of the Common Council of the 
City of Goshen, Indiana, Authorizing the Filing of an Application for a Community Development Block Grant. 
Council President Weddell asked the Clerk-Treasurer to read Resolution 2025-07 by title only, which he did.  
Weddell/Nisley made a motion to approve Resolution 2025-07. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
Resolution 2025-07 would authorize the filing of an application for a Community Development Block Grant.  
In a memorandum to the Common Council, dated April 28, 2025, Theresa Cummings, Community Development 
Specialist, wrote that attached to the memo was Resolution 2025-07, a resolution of the Council to authorize the 
filing of the Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) application (annual plan) for Program Year 2025. 
Cummings wrote that Goshen’s 2025 HUD allocation has not been released. The budget is estimated at $272,000. 
Cummings wrote that during the public comment period, no opposing comments were received, and no changes 
were made to the draft plan, which was discussed at a public hearing on April 1 during a Community Relations 
Commission meeting.  
Below is the estimated budget: 
 Project/Activity name      2005 estimated 
Public Service Grants       $48,500.00 
Owner-occupied Housing Rehabilitation     $68,000.00 
Homeownership Assistance w/Housing Counseling    $51,750.00$ 
Energy Conservation Multi-family Housing Rehabilitation   $110,000.00 
Program Planning & Administration      $61,500.00  
TOTAL          $339,750.00 
 
Entitlement Grant        $272,000.00 
Program Income        $38,000.00 
Prior Year Resources       $29,750.00 
TOTAL         $339,750.00 
 
Cummings concluded her memo by stating that “upon authorization of the resolution the application for funding can 
be filed when HUD releases allocation amounts. The final 2025 budgets of all proposed activities, if necessary, will 
be proportionally increased or decreased from the estimated funding levels to match actual allocation amounts, 
subject to the required caps and maximum funding requests, with no public hearing or further public notice as was 
specified in the draft plan.” The draft plan was available for review at http://goshenindiana.org/cdbg. 
 
According to Resolution 2025-07: 

• The Common Council of the City of Goshen desires to develop a viable community, including decent 
housing and a suitable living environment and expanding economic opportunities, principally for persons of 
low-to-moderate income; and 



                                                                              

15 | P a g e  
April 28, 2025 | City Council Minutes 

 
• It is necessary and in the public interest that the City of Goshen, the Applicant, (to) participate in the 

Community Development Block Grant Program and avail itself to the financial assistance provided by Title I 
of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974, Pub. L. 93-383, referred to as the “Program,” and 

• The Common Council of the City of Goshen is committed to compliance with all federal, state and applicable 
Program rules. It is recognized that the Federal contract for such financial assistance pursuant to said Title I 
imposes certain obligations and responsibilities upon the Applicant and the Applicant assures and certifies 
compliance. 

If Resolution 2025-07 was approved, it would be resolved by the Common Council: 
1. That the United States of America and the Secretary of Housing and Urban Development be, and they hereby are, 
assured of full compliance by the City of Goshen, Indiana. 
2. That an application on behalf of the City of Goshen for an estimated grant of $272,000 for the Program outlined in 
the application is hereby approved and that the Mayor of the City of Goshen, Indiana, is hereby authorized and 
directed to execute and file such application and any required accompanying documentation with the Department of 
Housing and Urban Development and to provide such additional information and to furnish such documents as may 
be required on behalf of the City of Goshen. 
 
SUMMARY OF APRIL 28, 2025 COUNCIL CONSIDERATION & APPROVAL OF RESOLUTION 2025-07: 
Mayor Leichty asked if Councilors had any questions about Resolution 2025-07. 
Council President Weddell clarified with the Mayor that the intent of the resolution was to apply for the funding and 
not for the disbursement of funds. 
Mayor Leichty asked if Councilors were ready to vote. They indicated that they were. 
On a voice vote, Councilors unanimously passed Resolution 2025-07, A Resolution of the Common Council 
of the City of Goshen, Indiana, Authorizing the Filing of an Application for a Community Development Block 
Grant, by a 7-0 margin, with all Councilors voting “yes,” at 7:34 p.m.  
At 7:34 p.m., Mayor Leichty invited questions from the audience. There were none. 
 
 
7)  Resolution 2025-08, Amendment #1 to the Project Coordination Contract with the State of Indiana for the 
College Avenue Auxiliary Lanes Project 
Mayor Leichty called for the introduction of Resolution 2025-08, Amendment #1 to the Project Coordination 
Contract with the State of Indiana for the College Avenue Auxiliary Lanes Project. Council President Weddell 
asked the Clerk-Treasurer to read Resolution 2025-08 by title only, which was done. 
Weddell/Riegsecker made a motion to approve Resolution 2025-08. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
Resolution 2025-08 would approve Amendment #1 to the Project Coordination Contract with the State of 
Indiana for the College Avenue Auxiliary Lanes Project.  
 
According to Resolution 2025-08: 
 



                                                                              

16 | P a g e  
April 28, 2025 | City Council Minutes 

 
• The City of Goshen and the State of Indiana entered into a Project Coordination Contract dated March 9, 

2020, for federal funds for the design, right-of-way acquisition, and construction of two-way left turn lanes on 
College Avenue from US 33 to the Norfolk-Southern Railroad (hereinafter referred to as the “Project”). 

• It is necessary to amend the Project Coordination Contract dated March 9, 2020 to expand the Project 
scope to include a bike/pedestrian bridge over the Horn Ditch, and to reflect additional federal funding 
allocated to the Project as expanded. 

• The maximum amount of federal aid funds allocated to the Project is dependent upon the Metropolitan 
Planning Organization’s current Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) allocation. As of March 26, 
2025, the maximum amount in federal aid funds allocated is $4,502,266 according to the TIP dated Feb. 15, 
2025. 

• The Goshen Redevelopment Commission will continue to fund the City’s share of cost for this Project, 
including any cost in excess of the City’s twenty percent (20%) of eligible Project costs which are not 
covered by federal funds. 

If approved, it would be resolved that the Goshen Common Council approves the terms and conditions of 
Amendment #1 to the Project Coordination Contract with the State of Indiana for the College Avenue 
Auxiliary Lanes Project attached to and made a part of this resolution. 
Amendment #1 to the Project Coordination Contract with the State of Indiana for the College Avenue Auxiliary Lanes 
Project, a three-page document with Attachment A1 and Attachment D-1, were attached to Resolution 2025-08. 
 
SUMMARY OF APRIL 28, 2025 COUNCIL CONSIDERATION & APPROVAL OF RESOLUTION 2025-08: 
Mayor Leichty invited questions or comments from Councilors. 
Director of Public Works & Utilities Dustin Sailor said Resolution 2025-08 was a “paperwork correction” that 
added a designation number, and in that system for the pedestrian bike path over Horn Ditch. “It's always been in the 
project. It just adds a separate designation for that project. So, it's all one project for the road, but then it adds the 
bridge portion as a separate project number, and allows the funding for that portion of the bridge.” 
City Attorney Bodie Stegelmann  said Resolution 2025-08 should not include the current second page that 
designated as “Resolution _____ – 2025.” He said the page was mistakenly added and should be removed. 
 
Councilors Nisley and Riegsecker made a motion to amend Resolution 2025-08 by removing the current 
second page that was designated as “Resolution _____ – 2025.” At 7:36 p.m., the motion passed 
unanimously by a 7-0 vote. 
 
Mayor Leichty invited additional questions or comments from the Council about the resolution. 
Council President Weddell asked for a clarification – if this resolution was in reference to what the Redevelopment 
Commission discussed at its last meeting “as far as separating out a quote for a pedestrian path off of this project.” 
Sailor responded, “It’s different than this. The bridge has always been in. It’s creating a separate designation for 
INDOT in that system” 
Councilor Riegsecker asked if it was always budgeted. Sailor said it was. 
At 7:37 p.m., Mayor Leichty invited questions from the audience. There were none. 
Mayor Leichty asked if Councilors were ready to vote. They indicated that they were. 



                                                                              

17 | P a g e  
April 28, 2025 | City Council Minutes 

 
On a voice vote, Councilors unanimously passed Resolution 2025-08, Amendment #1 to the Project 
Coordination Contract with the State of Indiana for the College Avenue Auxiliary Lanes Project, by a 7-0 
margin, with all Councilors voting “yes,” at 7:37 p.m.  
 
8)  Ordinance 5220, An Ordinance to Provide for a Recruitment Incentive and Referral Bonus 
Mayor Leichty called for the introduction of Ordinance 5220, An Ordinance to Provide for a Recruitment 
Incentive and Referral Bonus. Council President Weddell asked the Clerk-Treasurer to read Ordinance 5220 
by title only, which was done. 
Weddell/Peel made a motion to approve Ordinance 5220 on First Reading. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
Ordinance 5220 would provide a $5,000 recruitment incentive to a new employee filling an eligible position 
and a $2,000 bonus to a City employee who refers a candidate for employment to a position that the City has 
authorized the payment of a referral bonus. 
Full-time positions eligible for a bonus will be those difficult to fill in the absence of the recruitment 
incentives, that require special or unique competencies for the position, such as knowledge, skills, abilities, 
behaviors, and other characteristics an individual needs to perform the duties for a position and is assigned 
a Grade 20 (maximum annual salary of $103,227) or above. 
According to Ordinance 5220: 

• The City’s administration wishes to provide a recruitment incentive to be offered for certain positions that are 
likely difficult to fill, along with a referral bonus to encourage current employees to refer qualified candidates 
for certain vacant positions. 

• If approved, it would be ordained by Ordinance 5220 that the Common Council would authorize the payment 
of a recruitment incentive and a referral bonus as follows: 

SECTION 1 Recruitment Incentive – The City may pay a recruitment incentive to a new employee filling an eligible 
position in accordance with the Recruitment Incentive Policy attached as Exhibit A, and in accordance with the terms 
and conditions of an agreement with the new employee. The total amount of the recruitment incentive to be paid to a 
new employee shall not exceed the sum of  $5,000. 
SECTION 2 Referral Bonus – The City may pay a referral bonus to a referring employee that refers a candidate for 
employment to a position that the City has authorized the payment of a referral bonus in accordance with the Referral 
Bonus Policy attached as Exhibit B. The total amount of the referral bonus to be paid to a referring employee shall 
not exceed the sum of Two Thousand Dollars ($2,000) for each referred candidate. 
Exhibit A sets for the terms and conditions of the Recruitment Incentive Policy, which would be administered by the 
Mayor. The policy includes its purpose, the positions eligible for it and factors that would prompt the payment. 
Exhibit B sets for the terms and conditions of the Referral Bonus Policy, which would be administered by the Mayor. 
The policy includes its purpose, the positions eligible for it and factors that would prompt the payment. 
 
SUMMARY OF APRIL 28, 2025 COUNCIL CONSIDERATION & APPROVAL OF ORDINANCE 5220: 
Mayor Leichty explained that the City is “having some difficulty filling specific positions, so we want to incentivize our 
colleagues to provide referrals.” 



                                                                              

18 | P a g e  
April 28, 2025 | City Council Minutes 

 
The Mayor said, “If a qualified candidate would be hired, then we could have the opportunity to, on a select basis for 
very difficult positions to fill, provide that opportunity to employees for making those referrals.” 
Councilor Riegsecker responded, “I like this and I don't like this all at the same time. So, how often do you think 
we're going to use this? What’s your best guess?” The Mayor responded, “Once a year.” 
Councilor Riegsecker said, “I don't want to nickel and dime our budget to death. So, I'm concerned about all the 
things that we keep throwing in here, but I understand why you're doing it.” 
Mayor Leichty said, “For context, we've had an Engineering position open for three years. The City, a few years 
ago, spent $30,000 on a recruitment initiative, to find a candidate, that yielded one qualified candidate. It's very 
difficult to get engineering candidates who are willing to move to the City of Goshen and apply for jobs here. This is 
one beyond doing advertising through other means. This is just one tool in the toolkit for that specific position. It's 
those highly technical positions that we are finding that we're really struggling with, particularly in the Engineering 
Department.” 
The Mayor continued, “This is not something I anticipate using broadly, but we have to fill that position, and this 
would be one additional resource that we could leverage which is referrals through our employee network. So, trying 
to incentivize people to bring qualified applicants in addition to all the other methodologies of advertising through it, 
affiliate organizations. And we do not want to engage in another $30,000 hiring campaign. And so, we're trying to 
propose a $2,000 to $5,000 incentive.” 
Councilor Riegsecker said, “I understand, and I put full faith in you and the department heads to make this work out 
without being excessive, I guess, is what my comfort level is.” 
Councilor Schrock asked if this incentive would apply to any City department, including Police and Fire. Mayor 
Leichty said, “If we had an extremely difficult position that was of critical importance to the operation of the City, 
feasibly it could be, but that is not its intended purpose.” 
Councilor Schrock said the draft ordinance specifies that the incentive could be used to fill any position designated 
as grade 20 or higher. The Mayor said, “These would be top-level professional positions.” 
Council President Weddell asked for a clarification of the service period that would be required to qualify for the 
bonus. Mayor Leichty clarified the payment. City Attorney Stegelmann said, “The general idea would be that if the 
potential employee would receive the recruitment incentive, an agreement would be reached between the City and 
the employee. and that agreement would contain terms of payment of that bonus. It wouldn't be paid upfront. It would 
be paid over a one-year period, or over a four-year period, and that agreement would lay out what the terms of that 
agreement would be.” 
Council President Weddell asked for a further clarification. The Mayor said, “I think what Attorney Stegelmann is 
saying is, there would be terms in there that if they didn't stay for a certain amount of time, we could request a 
payback.” Stegelmann added, “There would be conditions under which the recruited employee must repay the City 
for the recruitment incentive.” 
Councilor Riegsecker asked for a further explanation, which was provided by the City Attorney, who said, “The 
incentive period will be one to four years for payment of the incentive bonus. So, I guess my thought would be the 
Board of Works would probably want for a larger incentive, a longer period of payment. Maybe if there's a top end, it 
would be the four years that the City would pay that bonus out. If it's a smaller amount, it could be a shorter period.” 
Councilors asked further clarifying questions, which the Mayor addressed and then said, “We're just trying to add to 
our arsenal of tools when we reach an employment crisis on what we can do to help incentivize.” 



                                                                              

19 | P a g e  
April 28, 2025 | City Council Minutes 

 
Councilor Nisley asked why the City was having such difficulties hiring employees to come to Goshen. He asked if 
the salaries were too low or if there was another negative factor. 
Mayor Leichty said, “When we evaluated the position before, we made sure that the pay was competitive, and it 
appears to be a competitive salary with other public entities. It is not as competitive with the private sector. In addition 
to that, there's a national shortage of engineers, particularly with civil engineers. It's a great time to be a civil 
engineer. If you're a civil engineer with experience, it's an even better time. 
“So, all of the things that I was referencing earlier with the delay in projects COVID. Then, after that was over, there 
was a huge spike in demand for catching up on projects, and there was an inflationary increase on the cost of that 
labor for those projects. So, all of those things have been contributing factors to why it's difficult to hire for these 
positions, 
“I can tell you, as a former board member on Interra Credit Union, that there are lots of industries when you're trying 
to attract and retain highly technical talent to this region that there are numerous challenges with attracting and 
retaining talent in Northern Indiana. I've sat on the entrepreneurship board and for the South Bend Elkhart Regional 
Partnership. and there are numerous strategies that have been deployed to try to attract and retain more of that 
technical, highly skilled talent to this region.” 
Council President Weddell said, “I'll echo that . Five or six years ago, I was looking for an associate, and it is very 
difficult. There are a lot of people that don't necessarily want to (come to Goshen) unless you have a direct 
connection with this area, most people don't want to come up this way.” 
Council President Weddell said it wasn’t unprecedented for the City to offer a hiring incentive. He pointed out that 
the City approved a clause for the Deputy Clerk-Treasurer to receive a $5,000 bonus each year for being a Certified 
Public Accountant. 
Councilor Nisley asked what budget or fund would pay for the incentive. City Attorney Stegelmann said the draft 
ordinance specifies that the recruitment incentive would be paid by the City department employing the recruited 
employee. The Mayor said there would be no budget impact this year because the position was funded for a year.  
Councilor Nisley said he didn’t believe a multi-year payment of $5,000 would be a benefit or incentive for a higher-
paid employee. Councilors briefly discussed the value of the incentive. 
Councilor Nisley asked clarifying questions about the referral bonus. Councilor Nisley then said, “Just a month 
ago, we were told we're going to have to pinch pennies or raise fees and taxes. I just think we're kind of spinning our 
wheels on this.” 
Mayor Leichty said, “One of our ways in which we are trying to be good stewards of our dollars is to make sure that 
we are operationally efficient, and we cannot be operationally efficient when you have one person doing two jobs that 
are as technically demanding as the jobs that we have open. So, we have to find a way. We have to find a solution in 
order to address that and we are exhausting every available opportunity that we have. So, we're trying to be as 
judicious as possible, but this is one tool that we have that could be a potential advantage in helping us identify 
additional candidates.” 
Councilor Peel said, “The amount of money that we're talking about is really not that significant, but it could be 
significant to somebody that is potentially looking for a job that says, ‘Oh, they're willing to offer this’ if we are doing 
that. And I think that's I think that's something. If we never use it, we never use it, but Dustin (Sailor) is overworked, 
and it's taking more time than it needs to if we were to be fully staffed to get a lot of things done in the City.” 
 



                                                                              

20 | P a g e  
April 28, 2025 | City Council Minutes 

 
Councilor Nisley responded, “You're saying that it's not significant, but to me, any penny that we spend is a 
taxpayer's money and is significant. It's significant to somebody.” Councilor Peel said, “It is significant, but it's not 
that much money when we're talking about it as a whole.” 
Mayor Leichty invited the Fire and Police chiefs to comment on their recruitment incentives under the City’s 
current agreements. 
Fire Chief Anthony Powell said if the City hires a licensed paramedic, the City pays a $7,500 bonus over three 
years. If the employee leaves before completing three years, the employee must repay for bonus.  
Still, Chief Powell said this is cheaper for the City because it must pay about $25,000 to send someone through the 
paramedic class. If an employee goes through that class and then leaves the City the employee must repay up to 
$15,000 to the City. 
Chief Powell said, “We have recruited several paramedics from other departments for that $7,500 bonus, and I'm 
not saying it shouldn't be revisited at some time, but it does work.” 
The Mayor asked Chief Powell to discuss other incentives paid to firefighters beyond their base salary. 
Chief Powell said, “Their base pay is $68,000, but then, on top of that the City pays for their insurance, which is 
another $22,000 a year, and then their pension is over $14,000, plus their bonus $7,500. Then, additionally, they get 
a 9% bonus for being a paramedic each year; this year was $5,820, plus their specialty (pay) on top of that. So, we're 
getting closer to the neighborhood of $90,000 to $100,000 for each individual.” 
Councilor Nisley said he agreed this was “a public safety issue.” Councilor Peel replied, “How is being three years 
without an engineer, not a public safety issue? They're trying to do a lot of things for the City that are important, too.” 
Council President Weddell said he understood that the City is offering to pay a new engineering roughly the same 
salary as that paid by other public entities. “Wha  always frustrated me is when we had the wage comparison study, 
they did not take into consideration all of the benefits that are provided as a City employee because if you just look at 
salaries, private industry gets paid way more on engineering. And so, there's just a frustration. So, when you say 
we're comparable with other cities and communities, that's true. But it still does mean we're going to get a good 
higher end because of how we're competing with the private industry.” 
Council President Weddell also said he agreed with Councilor Nisley that it would be better to give a larger hiring 
bonus to a new employee immediately as long as they agreed to repay a portion if they left early. 
Mayor Leichty asked Police Chief José Miller to discuss Police Department hiring incentives. 
Chief Miller said, “Our sign-on bonus is $8,000 over four years. To qualify for that that sign on bonus, they've got to 
be a Tier 1  graduate in good standing, which means we don't have to send them to the Academy for four months, so 
essentially that saves four months of salary.” 
Chief Miller said, “It costs the Police Department roughly $120,000 to fill a vacancy depending on if they're 
manpower and you're short. If you hire somebody that needs to go through the Academy and go through the field 
training, it takes approximately nine to ten months, and if you add in the application process, it’s essentially a year 
before we get to count somebody as manpower. 
“So, by getting somebody that's already been to the Academy and graduated, they've got experience and we don't 
have to send them away for four months. So, when you add that up, $8,000 is minimal compared to what our costs 
would be to hire them.” 
 
 



                                                                              

21 | P a g e  
April 28, 2025 | City Council Minutes 

 
Chief Miller continued, “We've gotten several officers and applicants over the years with that sign-on bonus. Ours is 
$2,000 at the initial hiring, $2,000 after year two, and then $4,000 after year four. And if they leave before year two, 
they've got to pay back their funds, but if they make it to four years, then we've saved much more than the $8,000 
that we've spent on that sign-on bonus just by having them for four years. 
“And then, same as the is the Fire Department, they get their specialty pays of up to $1,600 a year, depending on 
their specialties. Longevity pay is $200 a year, up to like year 17, then it's a bigger jump, but it maxes at $5,400 a 
year. They get clothing allowance after the first year, holiday pay, shift differential pay, and that all kind of comes 
together for their total package deal for the yearly salary without any overtime.” 
 
Council President Weddell said after reviewing the ordinance, it appeared the Board of Works would have the 
flexibility to pay a larger up-front bonus to a specialty employee. City Attorney Stegelmann said that was correct. 
Councilor Schrock said, “I just want to throw something out there being a business owner. Sometimes it's not about 
the money. Sometimes you can throw all the money in the world to somebody and if they don't hear and see what 
they like, they're not going to move, right? I mean, it's not always about the money … It's whether they want to come 
here and whether they like the people that they would work with.” 
Councilor Peel agreed, adding, “When you go to work in school, public education, it's not about the money. When 
you go work for a nonprofit, it’s clearly not about the money. It's about the cause and the mission behind it. And when 
you can work for a city, you really need to believe in that city and the work that they're doing.” 
Councilor President Weddell said that when he recruited a top employee, “I tried to highlight Goshen as much, if 
not more, than my own practice. I had information about my own practice, but I also had information on our park 
system. I had information on First Fridays, all of those things, because again, I'm asking somebody to come 
potentially move to Goshen. And so, I want them to know what Goshen had to offer as well as the work.” 
Mayor Leichty said, “And when we're recruiting typically at a job at this level, we're recruiting in some ways two 
people, because you have to convince a person and their partner to consider Goshen as a prime alternative. So, 
there are a lot of factors involved. So, this is one small tool to help.” 
Councilor President Weddell said the $5,000 incentive could help pay moving expenses. 
Councilor Peel said, “Private businesses have more in their toolbox that they can offer. They can offer to pay for 
moving expenses. They can offer to do all different things. Cities have got their hands tied. I appreciate what you're 
trying to do here.” 
 
At 8:05 p.m., Mayor Leichty invited questions or comments from the audience. 
Ida Short of Goshen said she wanted to “affirm the idea that you are trying to creatively find solutions to fill 
positions. I have several friends that I'm constantly trying to convince to move to Goshen, and something even as 
small as $1,000 can make a huge difference in moving costs, or in initial childcare, or all of those things. And so, I 
just want to say that if it seems like a small amount or a large amount or a strange idea, I think that could show that 
we are willing to sweeten the pot. And I just want to affirm that.” 
Kyle Richardson of Goshen said, “Just one thing I want to add, as someone who has experience with managing 
business as well, when you have a position that has been unfilled for three years, and you have one person doing 
two people's job. There's also a real risk of burning out that person and losing that employee as well. This is an 
emergency. You’ve got to fill that position.” 



                                                                              

22 | P a g e  
April 28, 2025 | City Council Minutes 

 
The Mayor closed the comment period at 8:07 p.m. 
Mayor Leichty asked Councilors if they were ready to vote. They indicated they were. 
 
On a voice vote, Councilors passed Ordinance 5220, An Ordinance to Provide for a Recruitment Incentive 
and Referral Bonus., on First Reading by a 6-1 margin, with Councilors Gerber, Lederach, Peel, Riegsecker, 
Schrock and Weddell voting “yes” and Councilor Nisley voting “No” at 8:07 p.m. 
 
Councilors did not gave unanimous consent to proceed with a Second Reading and final vote on Ordinance 
5220, so it will be brought before the Common Council at the next meeting, on May 19, 2025.  
 
 
Elected Official Reports: 
Mayor Leichty asked if Councilors had any reports they wanted to share. 
Councilors briefly discussed the date (May 19) of the May meeting. 
 
 
Adjournment:  
Councilor Nisley then made a motion to adjourn the meeting. Councilor Schrock seconded the motion. By a 
7-0 voice vote, Councilors unanimously approved the motion to adjourn the meeting. 
 
Mayor Leichty adjourned the meeting at 8:09 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
EXHIBIT #1: Before the meeting, Mayor Leichty emailed to Councilors a two-page memorandum, dated 
April 28, 2025 and titled “AmeriCorps Service Interruption and Interim Staffing Measures.” It described the 
abrupt cessation of federal funding for the City’s AmeriCorps members and the City’s response. She also 
included Appendix A: 2024-2025 AmeriCorps Project Summary, a three-page document. 
 
EXHIBIT #2: A 22-page PowerPoint presentation prepared by Utilities City Engineer Jamey Bontrager-
Singer that provided an overview of the Preliminary Engineering Report (PER) for the City’s Drinking Water 
System Upgrade and Expansion, which includes the Hilltop Booster Station, the North Wellfield, the 
Kercher Wellfield and the New South Wellfield. The PowerPoint was presented to Councilors during 
consideration of agenda item 4, Public hearing and consideration of Resolution 2025-09, SRF Loan 
Program Preliminary Engineering Report Acceptance, and Resolution 2025-10, SRF Loan Program 
Signatory Authorization Resolution.  
 
 



                                                                              

23 | P a g e  
April 28, 2025 | City Council Minutes 

 
 
 
 
 
 
APPROVED:  __________________________________ 

Gina Leichty, Mayor of Goshen 
 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST:  __________________________________ 

Richard R. Aguirre, City Clerk-Treasurer 



TO: 

FROM: 

RE: 

DATE: 

Mayor Gina Leichty and the Goshen Common Council 

Jeffery Weaver, Deputy Clerk-Treasurer 

Budget Reports from May 2025 

June 23 2025  

Attached for the Council’s review are financial reports summarizing the budget and cash balance 
performance for Civil City funds included in the 2025 budget, which was approved by the Council in 
October 2024. These reports are intended to provide a reasonable understanding of the City’s financial 
position. They are unaudited and may require some interpretation. 

The reports look different this time in hopes of condensing the information and making it easier to read 
and understand.  The four pages are as follows: 

Fund Balance Report 
This report provides the cash balance of the budgeted funds for May 31, 2025, illustrating the City’s 
liquidity position across all funds and demonstrating that each fund maintains a sufficient balance to 
support budgeted expenditures. 

Budget Report – Revenues 
This page summarizes revenue collections for each fund through May 31, 2025, showing progress 
toward projected revenue levels.  Remember that some funds receive the levy in two allotments in June 
and December (General, Debt Service, MVH, Cumulative Fire, Park & Recreation, Aviation, CCD, 
Cumulative Sewer)  

Budget Report – Expenditures 
In order to save space, this report displays expenditures incurred to date for each fund, allowing for an 
assessment of spending trends relative to annual appropriations, with an expected 58% of the budget 
remaining at this point in the year. 

Budget Report – Expenditures in the General Fund 
We are including this report on a separate page to streamline the presentation of information.  It breaks 
down the General Fund by department, providing a focused view of each department’s budget 
performance to date. 



6/18/2025 11:59:23 AM Page 1 of 1

Fund Balance Report
City of Goshen, IN As Of 05/31/2025

Fund Beginning Balance Total Revenues Total Expenses Ending Balance

1101 - GENERAL FUND 21,528,877.25 7,830,496.56 13,023,838.88 16,335,534.93

2201 - MVH FUND 3,790,842.61 754,696.07 1,654,066.06 2,891,472.62

2202 - LOCAL ROAD & STREET 1,554,031.95 276,319.33 4,535.00 1,825,816.28

2203 - MVH-RESTRICTED 2,106,390.49 259,048.16 0.00 2,365,438.65

2204 - PARKS AND RECREATION 4,698,294.14 314,324.75 1,045,402.05 3,967,216.84

2206 - AVIATION FUND 549,459.52 126,256.68 180,166.53 495,549.67

2209 - LIT - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 7,303,587.03 1,179,035.95 381,093.89 8,101,529.09

2214 - PROBATION FUND 126,474.02 42,324.48 47,197.08 121,601.42

2226 - REDEVELOPMENT OPERATING 486,877.76 229,166.70 107,866.18 608,178.28

2228 - LAW ENFORCEMENT CONTINUE EDUCATION 61,043.92 27,440.80 5,691.66 82,793.06

2234 - UNSAFE BUILDING FUND 218,015.68 2,098.11 40,000.00 180,113.79

2236 - RAINY DAY FUND 2,654,516.59 0.00 0.00 2,654,516.59

2240 - LIT - PUBLIC SAFETY 2,437,452.30 1,172,698.40 1,376,461.32 2,233,689.38

2256 - OPIOID SETTLEMENT UNRESTR 101,168.19 0.00 0.00 101,168.19

2257 - OPIOID SETTLEMENT RESTR 253,200.26 0.00 19,493.32 233,706.94

2258 - TOWNSHIP FIRE SUPPORT 416,352.31 350,000.00 56,100.25 710,252.06

2500 - COURT FEES 39,739.66 24,447.54 4,123.08 60,064.12

2501 - RESIDENTIAL LEASE FEES 59,283.57 23,908.00 20,768.37 62,423.20

2503 - ELECTRIC UTILITY SALE 2,867,655.75 78,659.53 0.00 2,946,315.28

2504 - OLD LAW ENFORCEMENT CONTINUE ED 18,108.66 0.00 18,108.66 0.00

2505 - STORM WATER MANAGEMNT 2,387,177.63 21,565.47 519,600.17 1,889,142.93

2506 - ECON IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 30,637.77 0.00 4,721.21 25,916.56

2508 - REDHAWK ACADEMY 14,757.86 35,000.00 6,436.39 43,321.47

3301 - DEBT SERVICE 65,169.99 9,135.44 186,900.00 -112,594.57

3311 - TIF BOND P & I PYMT FUND 571,219.28 1,038,283.75 816,718.75 792,784.28

3331 - TIF DEBT SERVICE RESERVE 217,393.75 0.00 217,393.75 0.00

4401 - CCI (CIGARETTE TAX) FUND 332,952.34 0.00 10,430.02 322,522.32

4402 - CUMULATIVE CAP DEVELOP 1,195,728.49 23,187.54 131,589.45 1,087,326.58

4425 - CCI FIRE STATION 601,395.79 15,442.85 197,649.25 419,189.39

4428 - CCI STORM SEWER FUND 3,290,057.69 38,139.35 36,659.62 3,291,537.42

4445 - TIF SOUTH EAST E.D. 22,706,136.70 144,295.18 2,226,013.78 20,624,418.10

4446 - TIF CONS RR/US 33/DT 9,914,318.15 22,910.00 1,179,141.10 8,758,087.05

4447 - TIF LIPPERT/DIERDORFF 770,577.43 0.00 388,438.11 382,139.32

4502 - ARP FISCAL RECOV FUND 5,557,302.92 0.00 341,923.53 5,215,379.39

4651 - CEMETERY CAPITAL IMPROV. 89,453.61 4,450.95 25,236.00 68,668.56

4660 - 2015 GOB PROCEEDS 849,472.25 0.00 0.00 849,472.25

4661 - 2021 GO BOND PROCEEDS 2,999,965.13 0.00 17,648.50 2,982,316.63

8801 - FIRE PENSION FUND 221,266.05 0.00 189,678.06 31,587.99

8802 - POLICE PENSION FUND 497,258.97 1,214.69 108,827.00 389,646.66

103,583,613.46 14,044,546.28 24,589,917.02 93,038,242.72Report Total:



6/18/2025 12:02:23 PM Page 1 of 3

Budget Report
City of Goshen, IN Group Summary

For Fiscal: 2025 Period Ending: 06/30/2025

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Period

ActivityFun…

Current
Total Budget

Original
Total Budget

Percent
Remaining

Revenue

1101 - GENERAL FUND 7,984,450.44153,953.8828,495,121.00 28,495,121.00 -20,510,670.56 71.98%

2201 - MVH FUND 760,030.135,334.064,560,312.00 4,560,312.00 -3,800,281.87 83.33%

2202 - LOCAL ROAD & STREET 276,319.330.00589,328.00 589,328.00 -313,008.67 53.11%

2203 - MVH-RESTRICTED 259,048.160.001,366,292.00 1,366,292.00 -1,107,243.84 81.04%

2204 - PARKS AND RECREATION 324,956.2310,631.483,755,106.00 3,755,106.00 -3,430,149.77 91.35%

2206 - AVIATION FUND 145,448.5819,191.90407,787.00 407,787.00 -262,338.42 64.33%

2209 - LIT - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 1,179,035.950.002,637,406.00 2,637,406.00 -1,458,370.05 55.30%

2214 - PROBATION FUND 50,952.428,627.94125,000.00 125,000.00 -74,047.58 59.24%

2226 - REDEVELOPMENT OPERATING 229,166.700.0046,200.00 46,200.00 182,966.70 396.03%

2228 - LAW ENFORCEMENT CONTINUE EDUCATION 29,405.711,964.910.00 0.00 29,405.71 0.00%

2234 - UNSAFE BUILDING FUND 2,098.110.000.00 400,000.00 -397,901.89 99.48%

2240 - LIT - PUBLIC SAFETY 1,172,698.400.002,642,849.00 2,642,849.00 -1,470,150.60 55.63%

2256 - OPIOID SETTLEMENT UNRESTR 0.000.0019,500.00 19,500.00 -19,500.00 100.00%

2257 - OPIOID SETTLEMENT RESTR 0.000.0045,600.00 45,600.00 -45,600.00 100.00%

2258 - TOWNSHIP FIRE SUPPORT 350,000.000.00350,000.00 350,000.00 0.00 0.00%

2500 - COURT FEES 29,366.234,918.6920,700.00 20,700.00 8,666.23 41.87%

2501 - RESIDENTIAL LEASE FEES 28,303.004,395.0064,430.00 64,430.00 -36,127.00 56.07%

2503 - ELECTRIC UTILITY SALE 78,659.530.000.00 0.00 78,659.53 0.00%

2505 - STORM WATER MANAGEMNT 24,375.092,809.62607,827.00 607,827.00 -583,451.91 95.99%

2506 - ECON IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 0.000.0065,500.00 65,500.00 -65,500.00 100.00%

2508 - REDHAWK ACADEMY 35,000.000.0046,500.00 46,500.00 -11,500.00 24.73%

3301 - DEBT SERVICE 9,547.56412.12381,432.00 381,432.00 -371,884.44 97.50%

3311 - TIF BOND P & I PYMT FUND 1,038,283.750.00820,889.00 820,889.00 217,394.75 26.48%

4401 - CCI (CIGARETTE TAX) FUND 0.000.0057,813.00 57,813.00 -57,813.00 100.00%

4402 - CUMULATIVE CAP DEVELOP 24,233.531,045.99823,963.00 823,963.00 -799,729.47 97.06%

4425 - CCI FIRE STATION 16,139.48696.63565,937.00 565,937.00 -549,797.52 97.15%

4428 - CCI STORM SEWER FUND 38,835.98696.63586,504.00 586,504.00 -547,668.02 93.38%

4445 - TIF SOUTH EAST E.D. 186,081.9841,786.809,367,200.00 9,367,200.00 -9,181,118.02 98.01%

4446 - TIF CONS RR/US 33/DT 73,669.7350,759.733,822,700.00 3,822,700.00 -3,749,030.27 98.07%

4447 - TIF LIPPERT/DIERDORFF 0.000.00261,350.00 261,350.00 -261,350.00 100.00%

4651 - CEMETERY CAPITAL IMPROV. 4,615.20164.2511,000.00 11,000.00 -6,384.80 58.04%

8801 - FIRE PENSION FUND 0.000.00460,000.00 460,000.00 -460,000.00 100.00%

8802 - POLICE PENSION FUND 1,239.6925.00350,000.00 350,000.00 -348,760.31 99.65%

14,351,960.91307,414.6363,354,246.00 63,754,246.00 -49,402,285.09Revenue Total: 77.49%



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2025 Period Ending: 06/30/2025

6/18/2025 12:02:23 PM Page 2 of 3

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Period

ActivityFun…

Current
Total Budget

Original
Total Budget

Percent
Remaining

Expense

1101 - GENERAL FUND 14,474,297.921,450,459.0433,944,900.00 34,264,096.33 19,789,798.41 57.76%

2201 - MVH FUND 1,793,898.87139,832.813,870,190.00 3,980,703.10 2,186,804.23 54.94%

2202 - LOCAL ROAD & STREET 4,535.000.001,000,000.00 1,539,147.00 1,534,612.00 99.71%

2203 - MVH-RESTRICTED 0.000.002,400,000.00 2,400,000.00 2,400,000.00 100.00%

2204 - PARKS AND RECREATION 1,165,971.75120,569.703,331,500.00 4,055,500.00 2,889,528.25 71.25%

2206 - AVIATION FUND 206,892.6926,726.16711,400.00 711,400.00 504,507.31 70.92%

2209 - LIT - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 699,099.40318,005.514,325,000.00 7,100,223.28 6,401,123.88 90.15%

2214 - PROBATION FUND 52,860.675,663.59113,650.00 113,650.00 60,789.33 53.49%

2226 - REDEVELOPMENT OPERATING 120,801.8112,935.63274,550.00 274,550.00 153,748.19 56.00%

2228 - LAW ENFORCEMENT CONTINUE EDUCATION 6,210.86519.2036,000.00 36,000.00 29,789.14 82.75%

2234 - UNSAFE BUILDING FUND 83,200.0043,200.0085,000.00 551,000.00 467,800.00 84.90%

2240 - LIT - PUBLIC SAFETY 1,491,789.03115,327.713,049,000.00 3,377,347.50 1,885,558.47 55.83%

2257 - OPIOID SETTLEMENT RESTR 64,977.7445,484.420.00 0.00 -64,977.74 0.00%

2258 - TOWNSHIP FIRE SUPPORT 66,389.9510,289.70378,000.00 378,000.00 311,610.05 82.44%

2500 - COURT FEES 5,531.671,408.5954,700.00 54,700.00 49,168.33 89.89%

2501 - RESIDENTIAL LEASE FEES 24,153.503,385.1348,975.00 48,975.00 24,821.50 50.68%

2503 - ELECTRIC UTILITY SALE 0.000.000.00 400,000.00 400,000.00 100.00%

2504 - OLD LAW ENFORCEMENT CONTINUE ED 18,108.660.0018,109.00 18,109.00 0.34 0.00%

2505 - STORM WATER MANAGEMNT 634,770.06115,169.891,937,885.00 1,940,885.00 1,306,114.94 67.29%

2506 - ECON IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 4,721.210.0081,000.00 81,000.00 76,278.79 94.17%

2508 - REDHAWK ACADEMY 6,797.76361.3712,500.00 12,500.00 5,702.24 45.62%

3301 - DEBT SERVICE 186,900.000.00373,275.00 373,275.00 186,375.00 49.93%

3311 - TIF BOND P & I PYMT FUND 816,718.750.00820,889.00 820,889.00 4,170.25 0.51%

3331 - TIF DEBT SERVICE RESERVE 217,393.750.000.00 217,393.75 0.00 0.00%

4401 - CCI (CIGARETTE TAX) FUND 11,864.911,434.8980,000.00 80,000.00 68,135.09 85.17%

4402 - CUMULATIVE CAP DEVELOP 146,312.4514,723.001,022,000.00 1,361,227.95 1,214,915.50 89.25%

4425 - CCI FIRE STATION 197,649.250.00375,000.00 417,598.95 219,949.70 52.67%

4428 - CCI STORM SEWER FUND 39,183.502,523.882,700,000.00 2,700,000.00 2,660,816.50 98.55%

4445 - TIF SOUTH EAST E.D. 2,365,292.28139,278.5020,065,890.00 22,440,621.85 20,075,329.57 89.46%

4446 - TIF CONS RR/US 33/DT 1,709,339.17530,198.074,075,000.00 8,586,861.94 6,877,522.77 80.09%

4447 - TIF LIPPERT/DIERDORFF 388,438.110.000.00 388,438.11 0.00 0.00%

4502 - ARP FISCAL RECOV FUND 482,587.72140,664.192,806,655.00 5,506,655.00 5,024,067.28 91.24%

4651 - CEMETERY CAPITAL IMPROV. 25,236.000.0045,800.00 45,800.00 20,564.00 44.90%

4660 - 2015 GOB PROCEEDS 0.000.00120,000.00 120,000.00 120,000.00 100.00%

4661 - 2021 GO BOND PROCEEDS 17,648.500.003,149,049.00 3,149,049.00 3,131,400.50 99.44%

8801 - FIRE PENSION FUND 233,494.7343,816.67551,320.00 551,320.00 317,825.27 57.65%

8802 - POLICE PENSION FUND 135,780.0026,953.00410,050.00 410,050.00 274,270.00 66.89%

27,898,847.673,308,930.6592,267,287.00 108,506,966.76 80,608,119.09Expense Total: 74.29%

Report Surplus (Deficit): -3,001,516.02 -13,546,886.76-28,913,041.00 -44,752,720.76 31,205,834.00 69.73%



6/18/2025 12:01:53 PM Page 1 of 2

Budget Report
City of Goshen, IN Group Summary

For Fiscal: 2025 Period Ending: 05/31/2025

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Period

ActivityDepartmen…

Current
Total Budget

Original
Total Budget

Percent
Remaining

01 - COMMUNITY RELATIONS 46,595.346,864.72206050.00 206,050.00 159,454.66 77.39%

02 - COUNCIL 57,290.0310,735.56149770.00 149,770.00 92,479.97 61.75%

03 - MAYOR 226,167.7439,871.62621380.00 621,380.00 395,212.26 63.60%

04 - CLERK-TREASURER 321,215.1857,716.52868070.00 868,070.00 546,854.82 63.00%

05 - LEGAL 302,051.7554,279.06960625.00 962,587.89 660,536.14 68.62%

06 - COURT 234,405.2938,120.54582200.00 582,200.00 347,794.71 59.74%

07 - BOARD OF WORKS 2,304,322.25375,625.755303485.00 5,500,751.97 3,196,429.72 58.11%

08 - TECHNOLOGY 267,387.6766,927.25811000.00 811,000.00 543,612.33 67.03%

09 - CEMETERY-GENERAL 202,523.2041,128.91483070.00 483,070.00 280,546.80 58.08%

10 - ENGINEERING 390,909.8775,294.901265650.00 1,266,712.00 875,802.13 69.14%

11 - POLICE DEPARTMENT 3,675,032.86633,559.409650820.00 9,769,275.47 6,094,242.61 62.38%

12 - FIRE DEPARTMENT 3,480,334.15606,903.908639800.00 8,639,800.00 5,159,465.85 59.72%

15 - BUILDING DEPARTMENT 245,634.1347,133.47669425.00 669,874.00 424,239.87 63.33%

16 - PLANNING DEPARTMENT 178,593.9733,333.31599015.00 599,015.00 420,421.03 70.19%

18 - CENTRAL GARAGE 688,239.26125,737.091953130.00 1,953,130.00 1,264,890.74 64.76%

19 - BUILDINGS-GROUNDS 93,032.8517,414.81357740.00 357,740.00 264,707.15 73.99%

46 - ENVIRONMENTAL RESILENCE 275,096.2159,019.44823670.00 823,670.00 548,573.79 66.60%

90 - UNAPPROPRIATED 35,007.1318,536.610.00 0.00 -35,007.13 0.00%

Report Total: 2,308,202.86 13,023,838.8833,944,900.00 34,264,096.33 21,240,257.45 61.99%



 

Memorandum 
 

TO:  Goshen Common Council  
      
FROM: Becky Hutsell, Redevelopment Director 
 
RE:  Resolution 2025-13 – Approval of the Plan Commission Order for the Various 

Amendments to the Existing TIF Districts  
   
DATE:  June 23, 2025    
 

 
Staff is currently working with Ice Miller, Baker Tilly and Goshen Legal to amend each of our 
existing TIF areas to extend them each to their full term as presented on the attached sheet from Baker 
Tilly.  
In addition, we are looking to amend two areas to include additional parcels: 
SOUTHEAST HOUSING TIF 
Intent is to add the three (3) parcels that were transferred to Cherry Creek, LLC after the initial TIF 
was established. 

 



 
 
 

 

 
CONSOLIDATED RIVER RACE/US 33 AREA 
Intent is to include two additional groupings of parcels that are likely to need development assistance 
and infrastructure improvements over the next several years.  
 

 
 
These amendments went before the Goshen Plan Commission in May and they passed the attached 
Order confirming that the amendments are in line with the City’s Comprehensive Plan and making a 
recommendation to continue forward with the amendments.  
We are requesting that the Council approve Resolution 2025-13 approving the Plan Commission 
order.  



Allocation Area Created/Expanded Expiration Potential Expiration
Original River Race February 13, 2001 February 13, 2031 February 13, 2031
2004 River Race Expansion February 10, 2004 May 2031 February 10, 2034
2005 River Race Expansion February 8, 2005 May 2031 February 8, 2035
2006 River Race Expansion February 27, 2006 May 2031 February 27, 2036
North US 33 February 8, 2005 May 2031 February 8, 2035
Downtown September 11, 2007 May 2031 September 11, 2037
Consolidated River Race/ US 33 January 10, 2012 May 2031 25-Years from Debt Issuance
2013 Consolidated River Race/ US 33 Expansion Area 1 January 8, 2013 May 2031 25-Years from Debt Issuance
2013 Consolidated River Race/ US 33 Expansion Area 2 September 10, 2013 May 2031 25-Years from Debt Issuance

Allocation Area Created/Expanded Expiration Potential Expiration
Original Century Drive February 10, 2003 February 10, 2033 February 10, 2033
2004 Century Drive Expansion July 13, 2004 May 11, 2033 July 13, 2034
2006 Century Drive Expansion February 27, 2006 May 11, 2033 February 27, 2036
Original Keystone I February 10, 2003 February 10, 2033 February 10, 2033
2004 Keystone 1 Expansion August 10, 2004 May 11, 2033 August 10, 2034
2007 Keystone 1 Expansion February 13, 2007 May 11, 2033 February 13, 2037
Keystone II February 25, 2003 February 25, 2033 February 25, 2033
Southeast August 14, 2012 May 11, 2033 February 26, 2040 (1)
2013 Southeast Expansion November 12, 2013 May 11, 2033 February 26, 2040 (1)

Southeast Housing TIF December 13, 2022 November 22, 2049 November 22, 2049 (2)

Lippert/Dierdorff EDA March 18, 2018 2045 25-Years from Debt Issuance

College Avenue EDA September 14, 2021 June 23, 2047 June 23, 2047 (3)

Indiana Avenue EDA June 14, 2022 November 10, 2047 November 10, 2047 (4)

(1) 25-years after the issuance of the Redevelopment District Refunding Bonds of 2015 dated February 26, 2015.
(2) 25-years after the issuance of the Taxable Economic Development Revenue Bonds of  2024 dated November 22, 2024
(3) 25-years after the issuance of the Economic Development Revenue Bonds, Series 2022 (College Avenue Project) dated June 23, 2022.
(4) 25-years after the issuance of the Taxable Economic Development Revenue Bonds, Series 2022 dated November 10, 2022.

GOSHEN (INDIANA) REDEVELOPMENT COMMISSION

TIF SUMMARY

(Prepared by Baker Tilly Municipal Advisors, LLC - January 20, 2025)
(Preliminary, Subject to Change)

(For Internal Use Only)

Consolidated River Race/US 33 EDA

Southeast Economic Development Area



ORDER OF THE GOSHEN PLAN COMMISSION 
DETERMINING THAT RESOLUTIONS AMENDING 
CERTAIN DECLARATORY RESOLUTIONS APPROVED 
AND ADOPTED BY THE GOSHEN REDEVELOPMENT 
COMMISSION CONFORM TO THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
OF THE CITY OF GOSHEN AND APPROVING SAID 
AMENDING DECLARATORY RESOLUTIONS 

ORDER NO: 2025-01 

WHEREAS, the Goshen ("City") Redevelopment Commission ("Commission"), on 
Februa1y 10, 2003, adopted Declaratory Resolution No. 3-2003 as confirmed on May 12, 2003 
(collectively, "Keystone I Area Resolution"), as amended to date, including by: (i) Amending 
Declaratory Resolution No. 8-2004 adopted on August 10, 2004 as confirmed on February 8, 
2005 (collectively, "2004 Keystone I Expansion Area Resolution"); and (ii) Amending 
Declaratory Resolution No. 13-2007 adopted on Feb1·uary 13, 2007 as confirmed on March 13, 
2007 ( collectively, "2007 Keystone I Expansion Area Resolution"), each creating and expanding 
the Keystone Economic Development Area (Keystone I) ("Keystone I Area"); 

WHEREAS, the Commission, on February 25, 2003, adopted Declaratory Resolution 
No. 05-2003 as confirmed on May 12, 2003 (collectively, "Keystone II Area Resolution"), and as 
amended to date, creating the Keystone Economic Development Area (Keystone II) and 
Allocation Area (Keystone II) (collectively, "Keystone II Area"); 

WHEREAS, the Commission, on February 10, 2003, adopted Declaratory Resolution 
No. 2-2003 as confirmed on May 12, 2003 (collectively, "Century Drive Area Resolution"), as 
amended to date, including by: (i) Amending Declaratory Resolution No. 9-2004 adopted on 
July 13, 2004, as confirmed on February 8, 2005 (collectively, "2004 Century Drive Expansion 
Area Resolution"); and (ii) Amending Declaratory Resolution No. 12-2006 adopted on 
Feb1·ua1y 27, 2006, as confirmed on February 13, 2007 (collectively, "2006 Century Drive 
Expansion Area Resolution"), each c1·eating and expanding the Century Drive Economic 
Development Area ("Century Drive Area"); 

WHEREAS, the Com1nission, on August 14, 2012, adopted Declaratory Resolution 
No. 69-2012 as confirmed on November 13, 2012 (collectively, "Consolidation Area 
Resolution''), as amended to date, including by Declaratory Resolution No. 87-2013 adopted on 
November 12, 2013 as confirmed on January 14, 2014 (collectively, "Southeast Expansion Area 
Resolution") each consolidating the Keystone I Area, the Keystone II Ai·ea and the Century 
Drive Ai·ea and creating and expanding the Southeast Economic Development Area ( collectively, 
"Southeast Consolidated Area"); 

WHEREAS, the Allocation Area (Keystone I) was created by the Keystone I Area 
Resolution, as expanded by the 2004 Keystone I Expansion Area Resolution ("2004 Keystone I 
Expansion Allocation Area") and as expanded by the 2007 Keystone I Expansion A1·ea 
Resolution ("2007 Keystone I Expansion Allocation Area"); 

4914-3105-6691 .1 



WHEREAS, the Century Drive Allocation Area was created by the Century Drive Area 
Resolution, as expanded by the 2004 Century D1·ive Expansion Area Resolution (11 2004 Centu1y 
Drive Expansion Allocation Area11

) and as expanded by the 2006 Century Drive Expansion Area 
Resolution (11 2006 Century D1·ive Expansion Allocation Area11

); 

WHEREAS; the Southeast Allocation Area was created by the Consolidation Area 
Resolution (11 Southeast Allocation Ai·ea11

), as expanded by the Southeast Expansion Area 
Resolution (11 Expanded Southeast Allocation Area11

); 

WHEREAS, the Commission on December 13, 2022, adopted Declaratory Resolution 
No. 60-2022, as confirmed on February 14, 2023 (collectively, 11 Housing Area Resolution11

) 

c1·eating the Southeast Housing TIF Allocation Area (11 Southeast Housing Allocation Area11
) ; 

WHEREAS, the Keystone I Area Resolution, the 2004 Keystone I Expansion Area 
Resolution, the 2007 Keystone I Expansion Area Resolution, the Keystone II Area Resolution, 
the Century Drive Area Resolution, the 2004 Century Drive Expansion Area Resolution, the 
2006 Century Drive Expansion Area Resolution, the Consolidation Area Resolution, the 
Southeast Expansion Area Resolution and the Housing Area Resolution, are hereinafter 
collectively referred to as the II Southeast Consolidation Area Resolution; 11 

WHEREAS, the Southeast Consolidation Area Resolution approved the Economic 
Development Plans, as consolidated and amended (collectively, 11 0riginal Southeast 
Consolidated Area Plan''), which Original Southeast Consolidated Area Plan contained specific 
recommendations for economic development in the Southeast Consolidated Area; 

WHEREAS, the Commission adopted Declaratory Resolution No. 01-2001 on 
February 13, 2001 as confirmed on May 8, 2001 (collectively, 11 River Race Area Resolution11

) , as 
amended to date, including by: (i) Amending Declaratory Resolution No. 01-2004 adopted on 
February 10, 2004 (11 2004 River Race Expansion Area Resolution11

); (ii) Amending Declaratory 
Resolution No. 01-2005 adopted on February 8, 2005 (11 2005 River Race Expansion Area 
Resolution11

); and (iii) Amending Declaratory Resolution No. 13-2006 adopted on February 27, 
2006 as confirmed on February 13, 2007 (collectively, 11 2006 River Race Expansion Area 
Resolution11

), each creating and expanding the River Race Corrido1· Economic Development 
Area (collectively, 11 River Race Area"); 

WHEREAS, the Commission adopted Declaratory Resolution No. 04-2005 on 
Feb1·uary 8, 2005, as confirmed after a public hearing (collectively, 11North US 33 Area 
Resolution11

) creating the North US Corridor 33 Economic Development Area and North US 33 
Co1זidor Allocation Area (collectively, 11North US 33 Area11

); 

WHEREAS, the Commission adopted Declaratory Resolution No. 39-2007 on 
September 11, 2007, as confirmed on October 9, 2007 (collectively, 11 Downtown Area 
Resolution11

) creating the Downtown Economic Development Area and Downtown Allocation 
Area (collectively, 11 Downtown Area11

) ; 

WHEREAS, the Commission adopted Declaratory Resolution No. 02-2012 on 
January 10, 2012 as confirmed on March 13, 2012 (collectively, 11River Race/US 33 

2 

4914-3105-6691.1 



Consolidation Area Resolution"), as arnended to date, including by: (i) Arnending Declaratory 
Resolution No. 06-2013 adopted on January 8, 2013 as confirrned on March 12, 2013 
(collectively, ''2013 Consolidated Expansion I Area Resolution"); and (ii) Arnending Declaratory 
Resolution No. 66-2013 adopted on Septernber 10, 2013 as confirrned on Novernbe1· 12, 2013 
(collectively, "2013 Consolidated Expansion II Area Resolution"); each consolidating and 
expanding the River Race Area, the North US 33 Area and the Downtown Area, and creating and 
expanding the Consolidated River Race/US 33 Econornic Developrnent Area (collectively, 
"Consolidated River Race/US 33 Area"); 

WHEREAS, the Original River Race Allocation Ai·ea was created by the River Race 
Area Resolution, as expanded by the: (i) 2004 River Race Expansion Area Resolution ("2004 
River Race Expansion Allocation Area"); (ii) 2005 River Race Expansion Area Resolution 
("2005 River Race Expansion Allocation Area"); and (iii) 2006 River Race Expansion Area 
Resolution ("2006 River Race Expansion Allocation Area"); 

WHEREAS, the North US 33 Allocation Area was c1·eated by the North US 33 Ai·ea 
Resolution ("North US 33 Allocation Area"); 

WHEREAS, the Downtown Allocation Area was created by the Downtown Area 
Resolution ("Downtown Allocation Area"); 

WHEREAS, the Consolidated River Race/US 33 Allocation Area was created by the 
River Race/US 33 Consolidation Area Resolutio11 ("Consolidated River Race/US 33 Allocation 
Area"), as expanded by the: (i) 2013 Consolidated Expansion I Area Resolution ("2013 
Consolidated Expansion I Allocation Area"); and (ii) 2013 Consolidated Expansion II Area 
Resolution ("2013 Consolidated Expansion II Allocation Area"); 

WHEREAS, the River Race Area Resolution, the 2004 River Race Expansion Area 
Resolution, the 2005 River Race Expansion Area Resolution, the 2006 River Race Expansion 
Area Resolution, the North US 33 Area Resolution, the Downtown Area Resolution, the Rive1· 
Race/US 33 Consolidation Area Resolution, the 2013 Consolidated Expansion I Area Resolution 
and the 2013 Consolidated Expansion II Area Resolution are hereinafter collectively refe1·red to 
as the "Consolidated River Race/US 33 Area Resolution;" 

WHEREAS, the River Race/US 33 Consolidation Area Resolution approved the 
Econornic Developrnent Plans for the Consolidated River Race/US 33 Area, as consolidated and 
arnended (collectively, "Original Consolidated River Race/US 33 Area Plan"), which Original 
Consolidated River Race/US 33 Area Plan contained specific recornrnendations for econornic 
develop1nent in the Consolidated River Race/US 33 Area; 

WHEREAS, the Cornrnission adopted Declaratory Resolution No. 13-2008 on March 13, 
2018, as confirrned on June 12, 2018 (collectively, "Lippert/Dierdorff Area Resolution"), 
creating the Lippert/Dierdorff Econo1nic Developrnent Area ("Lippert/Dierdorff Area"); 

WHEREAS, the Lippert/Dierdorff Allocation Area was created by the Lippert/Dierdo1·ff 
Area Resolution ("Lippe1·t/Dierdorff Allocation Area"); 

3 

4914-3105-6691.1 



WHEREAS, the Lippert/Dierdorff Area Resolution approved the Economic Development 
Plan ("Original Lippert/Dierdo1·ff Area Plan"), which 01·iginal Lippert/Die1·do1·ff Ai·ea Plan 
contained specific recommendations for economic development in the Lippe1i/Dierdorff Area; 

WHEREAS, the Southeast Consolidation Area Resolution, the River Race/US 33 
Consolidated Area Resolution and the Lippert/Dierdo1·ff Area Resolution are he1·einafter 
collectively refeחed to as the "Ai·ea Resolutions;" 

WHEREAS, the Original Southeast Consolidated Area Plan, the 01·iginal Rive1· 
Race/US 33 Consolidated Area Plan and the Original Lippert/Dierdorff Area Plan are hereinafter 
collectively refeחed to as the ''01·iginal Plans;" 

WHEREAS, on: (A) February 11, 2025, the Com1nission adopted Amending Declai·atory 
Resolution No. 04-2025 amending the Original Southeast Consolidated Ai·ea Plan to add the 
expenditure of revenues collected in the Southeast Consolidated Area for police and fire services 
for both capital expenditm·es and operating expenses ("Public Safety Services"), and the 
co11st1·uction of a fire station, all in, serving or benefiting the Southeast Consolidated Area, to the 
Original Southeast Consolidated Area Plan; and (B) April 8, 2025, the Commission adopted 
Amending Declaratory Resolution No. 08-2025 ainending the Southeast Consolidation Area 
Resolution and 01·iginal Soutlבeast Consolidated Area Plan to: (i) revise the expiration dates of 
the allocation provisions fo1· the 2004 Keystone I Expansion Allocation Area and the 2007 
Keystone I Expansion Allocation Area; (ii) revise the expiration dates of the allocation 
provisions for the 2004 Century D1·ive Expansion Allocation Area and the 2006 Century Drive 
Expansion Allocation Area; (iii) revise the expiration dates of the allocation provisions for the 
Southeast Allocation Area and the Expanded Southeast Allocation A1·ea; (iv) add the expenditure 
of revenues collected in the Area to eligible entities [01· eligible educational and training 
progra1ns ("Eligible Prog1·ams") as set forth in IC 36-7-25-7, all in, serving or benefiting the 
Southeast Consolidated Area; and (v) expand the Southeast Housing Allocation Area by adding 
the following three parcels of property: (a) 20-11-27-426-038.000-015 , (b) 20-11-27-426-
039.000-015; and (c) 20-11-27-326-008.000-015 to the Southeast Housing Allocation Area as set 
forth on the map attached to Amending Declaratory Resolution No. 08-2025 as Exhibit A. 

WHEREAS, on April 8, 2025, the Commission adopted Amending Declaratory 
Resolution No. 09-2025 ainending the Consolidated River Race/US 33 Area Resolution and the 
Original Consolidated River Race/US 33 Area Plan to: (i) revise the expiration dates of the 
allocation provisions for the 2004 River Race Expansion Allocation Area, the 2005 River Race 
Expansion Allocation Ai·ea and the 2006 River Race Expansion Allocation Area; (ii) revise the 
expiration date of the allocation provision for the No1ih US 33 Allocation Area; (iii) revise the 
expiration date of the allocation provision for the Downtown Allocation Area; (iv) revise the 
expiration dates of the allocation provisio11s for the Consolidated River Race/US 33 Allocation 
Area, the 2013 Consolidated Expa11sion I Allocation Area and the 2013 Consolidated Expansion 
II Allocation Area; (v) add tlבe expenditure of revenues collected in the Consolidated River 
Race/US 33 Area for Public Safety Services; (vi) add the expenditure of revenues collected in 
the Consolidated River Race/US 33 Area to eligible entities for Eligible Prog1·ams, all in, serving 
or benefiting the Consolidated River Race/US 33 Area; a11d (vii) expand the Consolidated River 
Race/US 33 Allocation Area by adding the parcels of property set fo1ih on the parcel list attached 

4 

4914-3105-6691 .1 



to Amending Declarato1-y Resolution No. 09-2025 as Exhibit A to the Consolidated River 
Race/US 33 Allocation Area; 

WHEREAS, on April 8, 2025, the Commission adopted Amending Declai·atory 
Resolution No. 10-2025 amending the Lippert/Dierdorff Area Resolution and the Original 
Lippert/Dierdorff Area Plan to : (i) revise the expiration date of the allocation provision for the 
Lippert/Dierdorff Allocation Ai·ea; (ii) add the expenditure of revenues collected in the 
Lippert/Dierdorff A1·ea for Public Safety Services; and (iii) add the expenditure of revenues 
collected in the Lippert/Dierdorff Area to eligible entities for Eligible Programs, all in, serving or 
benefiting the Lippert/Dierdorff Area; and 

WHEREAS, the Act requires approval of the Area Resolutions, as amended, and the 
Original Plans, as ainended, by the Goshen Plan Commission ("Plan Commission"); 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDERED BY THE GOSHEN PLAN COMMISSION, 
AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The Area Resolutions, as amended, and the Original Plans, as amended, conform 
to the comprehensive plan ofthe City. 

2. The Area Resolutions, as amended, and the Original Plans, as amended, a1·e in all 
respects approved, ratified and confirmed. 

3. The Secretary of the Plan Commission is hereby di1·ected to file a copy of the 
Area Resolutions, as amended, and the Original Plans, as amended, with the pennanent minutes 
of this meeting, and to send a certified copy of this resolution including the minutes of this 
meeting to both the Commission and the Goshen Common Council for their consideration 
pursuant to rc 36-7-14. 

APPROVED by the Goshen Plan Commission, this 20th day ofMay 2025 . 

GO~~COM ISSION ! ,/ "-
President, Ricl1ard W orsham 

ATTEST: 

~~ Secretary, Tom ~r 

5 

4914-3105-6691 ,1 



 
4916-7976-5046.1 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-13 

RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
GOSHEN APPROVING ORDER OF THE GOSHEN PLAN 
COMMISSION 

 
WHEREAS, the Goshen ("City") Redevelopment Commission ("Commission"), on 

February 10, 2003, adopted Declaratory Resolution No. 3-2003 as confirmed on May 12, 2003 
(collectively, "Keystone I Area Resolution"), as amended to date, including by: (i) Amending 
Declaratory Resolution No. 8-2004 adopted on August 10, 2004 as confirmed on February 8, 2005 
(collectively, "2004 Keystone I Expansion Area Resolution"); and (ii) Amending Declaratory 
Resolution No. 13-2007 adopted on February 13, 2007 as confirmed on March 13, 2007 
(collectively, "2007 Keystone I Expansion Area Resolution"), each creating and expanding the 
Keystone Economic Development Area (Keystone I) ("Keystone I Area"); 

WHEREAS, the Commission, on February 25, 2003, adopted Declaratory Resolution No. 05-
2003 as confirmed on May 12, 2003 (collectively, "Keystone II Area Resolution"), and as amended 
to date, creating the Keystone Economic Development Area (Keystone II) and Allocation Area 
(Keystone II) (collectively, "Keystone II Area"); 

WHEREAS, the Commission, on February 10, 2003, adopted Declaratory Resolution No. 2-
2003 as confirmed on May 12, 2003 (collectively, "Century Drive Area Resolution"), as amended to 
date, including by: (i) Amending Declaratory Resolution No. 9-2004 adopted on July 13, 2004, as 
confirmed on February 8, 2005 (collectively, "2004 Century Drive Expansion Area Resolution"); 
and (ii) Amending Declaratory Resolution No. 12-2006 adopted on February 27, 2006, as confirmed 
on February 13, 2007  (collectively, "2006 Century Drive Expansion Area Resolution"), each 
creating and expanding the Century Drive Economic Development Area ("Century Drive Area"); 

WHEREAS, the Commission, on August 14, 2012, adopted Declaratory Resolution No. 69-
2012 as confirmed on November 13, 2012 (collectively, "Consolidation Area Resolution"), as 
amended to date, including by Declaratory Resolution No. 87-2013 adopted on November 12, 2013 
as confirmed on January 14, 2014 (collectively, "Southeast Expansion Area Resolution") each 
consolidating the Keystone I Area, the Keystone II Area and the Century Drive Area and creating 
and expanding the Southeast Economic Development Area (collectively, "Southeast Consolidated 
Area"); 

WHEREAS, the Allocation Area (Keystone I) was created by the Keystone I Area 
Resolution, as expanded by the 2004 Keystone I Expansion Area Resolution ("2004 Keystone I 
Expansion Allocation Area") and as expanded by the 2007 Keystone I Expansion Area Resolution 
("2007 Keystone I Expansion Allocation Area"); 

WHEREAS, the Century Drive Allocation Area was created by the Century Drive Area 
Resolution, as expanded by the 2004 Century Drive Expansion Area Resolution ("2004 Century 
Drive Expansion Allocation Area") and as expanded by the 2006 Century Drive Expansion Area 
Resolution ("2006 Century Drive Expansion Allocation Area"); 



- 2 - 
4916-7976-5046.1 

WHEREAS, the Southeast Allocation Area was created by the Consolidation Area 
Resolution ("Southeast Allocation Area"), as expanded by the Southeast Expansion Area Resolution 
("Expanded Southeast Allocation Area"); 

WHEREAS, the Commission on December 13, 2022, adopted Declaratory Resolution No. 
60-2022, as confirmed on February 14, 2023 (collectively, "Housing Area Resolution") creating the 
Southeast Housing TIF Allocation Area ("Southeast Housing Allocation Area"); 

WHEREAS, the Keystone I Area Resolution, the 2004 Keystone I Expansion Area 
Resolution, the 2007 Keystone I Expansion Area Resolution, the Keystone II Area Resolution, the 
Century Drive Area Resolution, the 2004 Century Drive Expansion Area Resolution, the 2006 
Century Drive Expansion Area Resolution, the Consolidation Area Resolution, the Southeast 
Expansion Area Resolution and the Housing Area Resolution, are hereinafter collectively referred to 
as the "Southeast Consolidation Area Resolution;" 

WHEREAS, the Southeast Consolidation Area Resolution approved the Economic 
Development Plans, as consolidated and amended (collectively, "Original Southeast Consolidated 
Area Plan"), which Original Southeast Consolidated Area Plan contained specific recommendations 
for economic development in the Southeast Consolidated Area;  

WHEREAS, the Commission adopted Declaratory Resolution No. 01-2001 on February 13, 
2001 as confirmed on May 8, 2001 (collectively, "River Race Area Resolution"), as amended to 
date, including by: (i) Amending Declaratory Resolution No. 01-2004 adopted on February 10, 2004 
("2004 River Race Expansion Area Resolution"); (ii) Amending Declaratory Resolution No. 01-
2005 adopted on February 8, 2005 ("2005 River Race Expansion Area Resolution"); and (iii) 
Amending Declaratory Resolution No. 13-2006 adopted on February 27, 2006 as confirmed on 
February 13, 2007 (collectively, "2006 River Race Expansion Area Resolution"), each creating and 
expanding the River Race Corridor Economic Development Area (collectively, "River Race Area");  

WHEREAS, the Commission adopted Declaratory Resolution No. 04-2005 on February 8, 
2005, as confirmed after a public hearing (collectively, "North US 33 Area Resolution") creating the 
North US Corridor 33 Economic Development Area and North US 33 Corridor Allocation Area 
(collectively, "North US 33 Area"); 

WHEREAS, the Commission adopted Declaratory Resolution No. 39-2007 on September 11, 
2007, as confirmed on October 9, 2007 (collectively, "Downtown Area Resolution") creating the 
Downtown Economic Development Area and Downtown Allocation Area (collectively, "Downtown 
Area"); 

WHEREAS, the Commission adopted Declaratory Resolution No. 02-2012 on January 10, 
2012 as confirmed on March 13, 2012 (collectively, "River Race/US 33 Consolidation Area 
Resolution"), as amended to date, including by: (i) Amending Declaratory Resolution No. 06-2013 
adopted on January 8, 2013 as confirmed on March 12, 2013 (collectively, "2013 Consolidated 
Expansion I Area Resolution"); and (ii) Amending Declaratory Resolution No. 66-2013 adopted on 
September 10, 2013 as confirmed on November 12, 2013 (collectively, "2013 Consolidated 
Expansion II Area Resolution"); each consolidating and expanding the River Race Area, the North 



- 3 - 
4916-7976-5046.1 

US 33 Area and the Downtown Area, and creating and expanding the Consolidated River Race/US 
33 Economic Development Area (collectively, "Consolidated River Race/US 33 Area"); 

WHEREAS, the Original River Race Allocation Area was created by the River Race Area 
Resolution, as expanded by the: (i) 2004 River Race Expansion Area Resolution ("2004 River Race 
Expansion Allocation Area"); (ii) 2005 River Race Expansion Area Resolution ("2005 River Race 
Expansion Allocation Area"); and (iii) 2006 River Race Expansion Area Resolution ("2006 River 
Race Expansion Allocation Area");  

WHEREAS, the North US 33 Allocation Area was created by the North US 33 Area 
Resolution ("North US 33 Allocation Area");  

WHEREAS, the Downtown Allocation Area was created by the Downtown Area Resolution 
("Downtown Allocation Area"); 

WHEREAS, the Consolidated River Race/US 33 Allocation Area was created by the River 
Race/US 33 Consolidation Area Resolution ("Consolidated River Race/US 33 Allocation Area"), as 
expanded by the: (i) 2013 Consolidated Expansion I Area Resolution ("2013 Consolidated 
Expansion I Allocation Area"); and (ii) 2013 Consolidated Expansion II Area Resolution ("2013 
Consolidated Expansion II Allocation Area");  

WHEREAS, the River Race Area Resolution, the 2004 River Race Expansion Area 
Resolution, the 2005 River Race Expansion Area Resolution, the 2006 River Race Expansion Area 
Resolution, the North US 33 Area Resolution, the Downtown Area Resolution, the River Race/US 
33 Consolidation Area Resolution, the 2013 Consolidated Expansion I Area Resolution and the 2013 
Consolidated Expansion II Area Resolution are hereinafter collectively referred to as the 
"Consolidated River Race/US 33 Area Resolution;" 

WHEREAS, the River Race/US 33 Consolidation Area Resolution approved the Economic 
Development Plans for the Consolidated River Race/US 33 Area, as consolidated and amended 
(collectively, "Original Consolidated River Race/US 33 Area Plan"), which Original Consolidated 
River Race/US 33 Area Plan contained specific recommendations for economic development in the 
Consolidated River Race/US 33 Area; 

WHEREAS, the Commission adopted Declaratory Resolution No. 13-2008 on March 13, 
2018, as confirmed on June 12, 2018 (collectively, "Lippert/Dierdorff Area Resolution"), creating 
the Lippert/Dierdorff Economic Development Area ("Lippert/Dierdorff Area");  

WHEREAS, the Lippert/Dierdorff Allocation Area was created by the Lippert/Dierdorff 
Area Resolution ("Lippert/Dierdorff Allocation Area");  

WHEREAS, the Lippert/Dierdorff Area Resolution approved the Economic Development 
Plan ("Original Lippert/Dierdorff Area Plan"), which Original Lippert/Dierdorff Area Plan contained 
specific recommendations for economic development in the Lippert/Dierdorff Area;  

WHEREAS, the Southeast Consolidation Area Resolution, the River Race/US 33 
Consolidated Area Resolution and the Lippert/Dierdorff Area Resolution are hereinafter collectively 
referred to as the "Area Resolutions;" 



- 4 - 
4916-7976-5046.1 

WHEREAS, the Original Southeast Consolidated Area Plan, the Original River Race/US 33 
Consolidated Area Plan and the Original Lippert/Dierdorff Area Plan are hereinafter collectively 
referred to as the "Original Plans;" 

WHEREAS, on: (A) February 11, 2025, the Commission adopted Amending Declaratory 
Resolution No. 04-2025 amending the Original Southeast Consolidated Area Plan to add the 
expenditure of revenues collected in the Southeast Consolidated Area for police and fire services for 
both capital expenditures and operating expenses ("Public Safety Services"), and the construction of 
a fire station, all in, serving or benefiting the Southeast Consolidated Area, to the Original Southeast 
Consolidated Area Plan; and (B) April 8, 2025, the Commission adopted Amending Declaratory 
Resolution No. 08-2025 amending the Southeast Consolidation Area Resolution and Original 
Southeast Consolidated Area Plan to:  (i) revise the expiration dates of the allocation provisions for 
the 2004 Keystone I Expansion Allocation Area and the 2007 Keystone I Expansion Allocation 
Area; (ii) revise the expiration dates of the allocation provisions for the 2004 Century Drive 
Expansion Allocation Area and the 2006 Century Drive Expansion Allocation Area; (iii) revise the 
expiration dates of the allocation provisions for the Southeast Allocation Area and the Expanded 
Southeast Allocation Area; (iv) add the expenditure of revenues collected in the Southeast 
Consolidated Area to eligible entities for eligible educational and training programs ("Eligible 
Programs") as set forth in IC 36-7-25-7, all in, serving or benefiting the Southeast Consolidated 
Area; and (v) expand the Southeast Housing Allocation Area by adding the following three parcels 
of property: (a) 20-11-27-426-038.000-015, (b) 20-11-27-426-039.000-015; and (c) 20-11-27-326-
008.000-015 to the Southeast Housing Allocation Area as set forth on the map attached to Amending 
Declaratory Resolution No. 08-2025 as Exhibit A. 

WHEREAS, on April 8, 2025, the Commission adopted Amending Declaratory Resolution 
No. 09-2025 amending the Consolidated River Race/US 33 Area Resolution and the Original 
Consolidated River Race/US 33 Area Plan to: (i) revise the expiration dates of the allocation 
provisions for the 2004 River Race Expansion Allocation Area, the 2005 River Race Expansion 
Allocation Area and the 2006 River Race Expansion Allocation Area; (ii) revise the expiration date 
of the allocation provision for the North US 33 Allocation Area; (iii)  revise the expiration date of 
the allocation provision for the Downtown Allocation Area; (iv) revise the expiration dates of the 
allocation provisions for the Consolidated River Race/US 33 Allocation Area, the 2013 Consolidated 
Expansion I Allocation Area and the 2013 Consolidated Expansion II Allocation Area; (v) add the 
expenditure of revenues collected in the Consolidated River Race/US 33 Area for Public Safety 
Services; (vi) add the expenditure of revenues collected in the Consolidated River Race/US 33 Area 
to eligible entities for Eligible Programs, all in, serving or benefiting the Consolidated River 
Race/US 33 Area; and (vii) expand the Consolidated River Race/US 33 Allocation Area by adding 
the parcels of property set forth on the parcel list attached to Amending Declaratory Resolution No. 
09-2025 as Exhibit A to the Consolidated River Race/US 33 Allocation Area; 

WHEREAS, on April 8, 2025, the Commission adopted Amending Declaratory Resolution 
No. 10-2025 amending the Lippert/Dierdorff Area Resolution and the Original Lippert/Dierdorff 
Area Plan to: (i) revise the expiration date of the allocation provision for the Lippert/Dierdorff 
Allocation Area; (ii) add the expenditure of revenues collected in the Lippert/Dierdorff Area for 
Public Safety Services; and (iii) add the expenditure of revenues collected in the Lippert/Dierdorff 
Area to eligible entities for Eligible Programs, all in, serving or benefiting the Lippert/Dierdorff 
Area;  



- 5 - 
4916-7976-5046.1 

WHEREAS, the Goshen Plan Commission ("Plan Commission"), on the 20th day of May, 
2025, approved the Area Resolutions and the Original Plans, each as amended; and 

WHEREAS, IC 36-7-14 and IC 36-7-25 and all acts supplemental and amendatory thereto 
require approval of the action of the Plan Commission by the Common Council of the City; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF GOSHEN, INDIANA, THAT: 

Section 1. The action of the Plan Commission on May 20, 2025, determining that the 
Area Resolutions and the Original Plans, each as amended, conform to the plan of development of 
the City is in all respects approved by the Common Council. 

Section 2. This resolution shall be effective from and after its passage and approval by 
the Mayor. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Common Council of the City of Goshen, Indiana, this 
23rd day of June, 2025, by a vote of ayes and nays. 

COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
GOSHEN, INDIANA 
 
 
 
_______________________________________ 
Presiding Officer 

 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
___________________________ 
Clerk-Treasurer 



- 6 - 
4916-7976-5046.1 

Presented by me to the Mayor of the City of Goshen, Indiana, on the _____ day of June, 

2025, at __:__ _.m. 

 
   
Clerk-Treasurer 

 
Signed and approved by me, the Mayor of the City of Goshen, Indiana, this ____ day of June, 

2025, at __:__ _.m. 

 
   
Mayor 
 

 


	00-A-2025-6-23 Council-agenda
	00-B-2025-4-28 Council-minutes
	3-2025-6-23 City budget report
	Budget Report – Expenditures in the General Fund

	4-2025-6-23 RES 2025-13 Approving the PC Order for the TIF Amendments 06.17.2025
	FROM: Becky Hutsell, Redevelopment Director
	RE:  Resolution 2025-13 – Approval of the Plan Commission Order for the Various Amendments to the Existing TIF Districts
	Goshen TIF - Common Res. 2025-13 - Council Resolution Approving Plan Commission Order (2025; various).pdf
	Section 1. The action of the Plan Commission on May 20, 2025, determining that the Area Resolutions and the Original Plans, each as amended, conform to the plan of development of the City is in all respects approved by the Common Council.
	Section 2. This resolution shall be effective from and after its passage and approval by the Mayor.





